
 
 
 
 
 

    

Our Ref:  

Contact: Damon Stanton 

Tel: 01246 217045 

Email: damon.stanton@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 

Date: Wednesday 9 September 2020 

 
To:  All Members of the Clay Cross Town Board 

 
Please attend a meeting of the Clay Cross Town Board to be held on Friday 18 
September 2020 at 9.00 am by Conference Call.  Access credentials to the meeting 
will be sent to you separately.  The public parts of the meeting will be streamed from 
the Council’s website.  

 
Virtual Attendance and Hybrid Meetings  
I have provided the Leader and Deputy Leader with advice on the holding of “hybrid” 
meetings outlining the risks including to employees dealing with the Chamber and to 
Members. Hybrid meetings are those where some attendance is in person in the Council 
Chamber and some is virtual. I would encourage you all to attend virtually. Accordingly if 
you attend in person you will be deemed to have accepted the following disclaimer as 
applying.  
 
Risk Assessment Disclaimer  
When attending this meeting in person, I confirm that I have read and understood the 
contents of each of the following risk assessments and agree to act in line with its content.  
 

 RA – Return to Work Mill Lane Covid 19 V9  

 Mill Lane Coronavirus Control Measures V4 
 
Both documents have been emailed to Members and are available on the Modern.Gov 
App library.  
 
The same advice is given to officers who are also encouraged to participate in the meeting 
remotely. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
Joint Head of Corporate Governance and Monitoring Officer  
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

A G E N D A 
 

1   Apologies for Absence   
 

2   Declarations of Interest   
 

 Members are requested to declare the existence and nature of any disclosable 
pecuniary interests and/or other interests, not already on their register of 
interests, in any item on the agenda and withdraw from the meeting at the 
appropriate time. 
 

3   Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 4 - 25) 
 

 To approve as a correct record and the Chair to sign the Minutes of the Clay 
Cross Town Board meeting held on 5 June 2020 and to approve the Notes of the 
Informal Clay Cross Town Board meetings held on 26 June 2020, 10 July and 24 
July 2020.  
 

4   Stage 2 Consultation Outcomes   
 

 To consider the attached report – Karl Apps Joint Housing Strategy and Growth 
Manager. 
 

5   Draft TIP   
 

 To consider the attached report – Karl Apps Joint Housing Strategy and Growth 
Manager. 
 

6   Outcomes of Towns Hub Check and Challenge Session   
 

 Verbal Update – Karl Apps Joint Housing Strategy and Growth Manager. 
 

7   Brief Overview of Current Status/Next Steps   
 

8   Record of Interest   
 

9   Any Other Business   
 

______________ 
 
 

Page 2



 

 

Page 3



 

1 
 

CLAY CROSS TOWN BOARD 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 5 JUNE 2020 
 

Board Members Present: 
 

Gary Golden (Worcester Bosch) ……… Chair 
Councillor M E Thacker MBE JP …..…. Leader and Vice-Chair 

 
 

Lee Rowley MP  –  Member of Parliament for North East Derbyshire 
Councillor J Kenyon  –  Portfolio Holder for Transformation & Climate Change 
Councillor C Renwick  –  Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth 
Councillor N Barker 
Councillor G Morley  –  Chair Clay Cross Parish Council 
Peter Tooher  –  Nexus Planning 
J Mather  –  Homes England 
Tom Goshawk  –  D2N2 Head of Capital Programmes 
Andrew King  –  Clay Cross Town Centre Group Treasurer 
Steve Perez  –  Global Brands Chairman 
Julie Richards  –  Chesterfield College Group Chief Executive Officer 
R Sheppard  –  Nexus Planning 
P Alford  -  Associate Director at Amion Consulting 
 
Also Present  
 
Gill Callingham  –  Director of Growth and Economic Development NEDDC 
Niall Clark  –  Rykneld Homes Director of Property Services and 

Development 
Lee Hickin  –  Director of Corporate Resources NEDDC 
Bob Murdoch  –  Worcester Bosch Manufacturing Director 
Allison Westray-Chapman  –  Interim Head of Economic Development DCC 
Damon Stanton  –  Governance Officer NEDDC 
 
 
CXTB/01/20-21 Apologies for Absence 
 
 No apologies were submitted. 
 
CXTB/02/20-21 Declarations of Interest 
 
 No declarations of interest were made.  
 
CXTB/03/20-21 Terms of Reference Update  
 
 Members of the Board were presented with some minor changes to the 

Clay Cross Town Board’s Terms of Reference.  It was stated that the 
changes referred to suitable substitutes for Board Members so that they 
could be represented by their organisation in their absence.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



 

2 
 

 
 AGREED – That the minor changes to the Clay Cross Town Board’s 

Terms of Reference be approved.  
 
CXTB/04/20-21 Inception Meeting  
 
 The Board welcomed Nexus Planning to the meeting as lead 

consultants appointed to deliver the investment plan for Clay Cross.  
 
 Peter Tooher, Executive Director of Nexus Planning, expressed his 

excitement and thanked the Board for the opportunity to deliver on the 
aspirations for Clay Cross.  

 
 Nexus provided a brief presentation to the Board which outlined a 

number of key issues and areas.  These included:- 
 

 Clay Cross Board objectives; 

 Priority areas and proposals; 

 Key documents, data and project evidence; 

 The Clay Cross Investment Plan; 

 Consultation Plan; 

 Timescales and programme; 

 Next steps. 
 
 The Clay Cross Board discussed a number of ways in which Nexus 

Planning could be updated about the work done so far in regards to the 
Investment Plan for Clay Cross.  These included workshops and 
informal working groups.   

 
 Members of the Board had a wide ranging discussion on the specific 

challenges that Clay Cross faced.  Lee Rowley MP, suggested that a 
number of policy interventions were required such as promoting skills 
and education, connecting Clay Cross to surrounding areas, and an 
overall economic transformation that would improve the health and 
wellbeing of Clay Cross residents.  The Board agreed that there must 
be a robust data set where areas of investment could be identified and 
focussed on.  

 
 Councillor Geoff Morley, Clay Cross Parish Chair, identified the leisure 

centre as a key area that was vital for the health and wellbeing of Clay 
Cross residents.   

 
 Councillor Jeremy Kenyon made reference to the poor traffic flow and 

the connectivity issues for Clay Cross’ Town Centre.  
 
 Julie Richards – Chesterfield College, discussed the skills agenda and 

the importance of using data to drive upskilling and knowledge to help 
the unemployed and attract businesses to the area.  

 

Page 5



 

3 
 

 Councillor Martin Thacker MBE, Leader of the Council, informed the 
Clay Cross Town Board of a district information portal that would be 
available for the public to view on the Council’s website.  The Board 
reiterated that a robust data set was vital so that the investment plan 
could make a clear case to Government that investment was needed in 
Clay Cross.  

 
 The Clay Cross Board discussed the possibility of bringing the next 

meeting forward by two weeks, as well as the creation of a sub-group or 
further informal working groups.  

 
 Members of the Clay Cross Town Board acknowledged that they were a 

representative of the stakeholders in the Clay Cross community and as 
such, regular engagement with the public was important.  Members 
agreed that public engagement was crucial, and as such identified a 
number of areas in which the Council’s Communications Team could 
connect with residents.   This included social media outlets, e-mail 
communications and the publishing of the draft final plan for public 
comments.   

 
 Councillor Martin Thacker MBE, Leader of the Council, wished for 

officers to draft a clear set of statements before the next formal meeting 
to identify the progress of the Town Board.  The statement would 
include a progress to date briefing, where the investment plan was at, a 
clear outline of the Board’s vision, messages to the public, next steps, 
and draft proposals for public consultation.    

 
 The Clay Cross Town Board agreed that an inception meeting should 

go ahead through an informal working group with officers, and the 
outcome of this could then be shared with the Clay Cross Board at its 
next formal meeting.  

 
 Members of the Board also wished for the documentation on the 

consultation plan to be circulated to Members of the Board well in 
advance of the next meeting.   

 
 Officers agreed to provide an update from the D2N2 Derbyshire Town’s 

Fund Meeting at the next meeting of the Clay Cross Board.  
 
 AGREED – That the update be noted.  
 
CXTB/05/20-21 Communications  
 
 It was stated that the Council planned on publishing a press release, 

announcing Nexus Planning as the consultants and lead planners for 
the Clay Cross Investment Plan.  

 

Page 6



 

4 
 

 The Board agreed for the Council’s Communications Department to 
work with Chesterfield College to produce a logo or brand that outlined 
the Board’s vision for Clay Cross.  

 
 AGREED – That the update be noted.  
 
CXTB/06/20-21 Any Other Business 
 
 There was no further business to discuss.  
 

__________  

Page 7



1 
 

CLAY CROSS TOWN BOARD – WORKING GROUP 
 

NOTES OF MEETING HELD ON 26 JUNE 2020 
 

Board Members Present: 
 

Gary Golden (Worcester Bosch) ……… Chair 
 
 

Councillor J Kenyon  –  Portfolio Holder for Transformation & Climate Change 
Councillor C Renwick  –  Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth 
Councillor N Barker 
Councillor G Morley  
Lee Rowley MP  –  Member of Parliament for North East Derbyshire 
Peter Alford  –  Amion Consulting 
Janine Foxhall  –  Derbyshire Community Health Services NHS Foundation 

Trust General Manager for Chesterfield and North East 
Derbyshire 

Tom Goshawk  –  D2N2 Head of Capital Programmes 
Ed Kerr  -  Ramboll 
Andrew King  –  Clay Cross Town Centre Group Treasurer 
Martin Kirkpatrick  –  Buttress Architects  
Rachael Lister  –  Thomas Lister  
John Mather  –  Homes England 
Richard Morcombe  –  Chesterfield College  
Bob Murdoch  –  Worcester Bosch Manufacturing Director 
Steve Perez  –  Global Brands Chairman 
Charlie Steel  –  Thomas Lister  
Peter Tooher  –  Nexus Planning  
Allison Westray-Chapman  –  Derbyshire County Council Interim Head of Economic 

Development 
 
Also Present  
 
Karl Apps  –  Joint Housing Strategy and Growth Manager 
Joe Bradley  –  Executive Assistant  
Gill Callingham  –  Director of Growth and Economic Development 
Niall Clark  –  Rykneld Homes Director of Property Services & 

Development 
Lee Hickin  –  Director of Corporate Resources 
 
 
CXTB/07/20-21 Apologies for Absence 
 
 Apologies were received from Councillor Martin Thacker MBE JP 

(Leader and Vice Chair), Councillor Tony King (Derbyshire County 
Council), Tim Allen (Historic England), Joe Battye (Derbyshire 
County Council), Andy James (Sport England), Warren Manning 
(Derby University), Graham Marshall (Prosocial Place), Melanie 

Page 8



2 
 

Phythian (BEIS), Julie Richards (Chesterfield College), Angela 
Stansfield (DWP), Jane Tricker (Homes England). 

 
CXTB/08/20-21 Declarations of Interest 
 
 No declarations of interest were made.  
 
CXTB/09/20-21  Note Minutes of Board Meetings held on 24 January 2020, 28 

February 2020, 20 April 2020 and 15 May 2020 
 
 The Board gave consideration to the Minutes of the Board meetings 

held on 24 January 2020, 28 February 2020, 20 April 2020 and 15 
May 2020.   

 
 It was AGREED that the minutes be noted. 
 
CXTB/10/20-21 Officer Progress Report  
 
 The Director of Economic Growth presented a report giving an 

update of progress since the last Board meeting.  
 
 An overview of the Town Investment Plan (TIP) was provided and a 

flowchart had been included within the report to show the stages of 
the TIP.  This would be used to keep the Board informed of where 
the TIP was within the process.    

 
 Guidance on the TIP was also provided.  This was intended to 

enable the Board to finalise the TIP and work with MHCLG to agree 
our Town Deals.   

 
 It was advised that officers had met with the Towns Hub Policy 

Advisor for our TIP and a number of messages came from that 
meeting, including: 

 

 The TIP needs to be wider than the funding ask  

 What can we offer as part of the TIP  

 Bring together community with the TIP  

 Proposals should be short, medium and long term  

 Link into the regional aspiration i.e. D2N2 and the Local Industrial 
Strategy  

 Projects that are ready to commence can be submitted with the 
TIP i.e. planning permission in place, funding in place or 
allocated 

 Projects should be ambitious  
 
 The Director of Economic Growth advised that at the moment our bid 

was in the “up to £25m” pot of funding.  If we wanted to be in the “up 
to £50m” pot then we would have to be more ambitious with our 
proposals.  

 

Page 9



3 
 

CXTB/11/20-21 Districts Meeting Update  
 
 It was stated that the District should be investing heavily into the 

green economy and that a major part of the bidding process was 
about decarbonisation and low carbon.   

 
 The Plan could include support to local businesses to lower carbon 

footprint and embedding low carbon thinking in the whole Plan.  
 
 There were 3 dates for opportunities to submit bids – July, October 

and January.   
 
 Gill Callingham advised that we were aiming for the October 

submission date.  
 
CXTB/12/20-21 Nexus Progress Report   
 
 Peter Tooher gave a presentation to support the Progress Report 

which provided the Board with an update on the project.  
 
 The Board was given an overview of the actions to date and work in 

progress.   
 

 Site visit undertaken with NEDDC/Nexus Planning and Buttress 
Architects 

 Draft Communication Strategy has been prepared and 
supporting material.   

 Stakeholder engagement  

 Documentation review and baseline research work  

 Prepared paper on Investment Plan Framework, based on 
guidance from MHCLG 

 
 Peter Alford advised that guidance had now been received and the 

Framework was now progressing.   
 
 A vision and strategy should be based on evidence of the local needs 

and priorities.  Engagement and public consultation was required.  
Work was being undertaken on some baseline analysis.  

 
 We need to look at how we respond to the current crisis within a 

long-term plan as this will also set out aspirations for change over a 
ten year period.  

 
 It was stated that there had to be a balance between ambition and 

deliverability, and look at strategic interventions that deliver tangible 
change.  

 
 Investment needed to be able to deliver sustainable change and 

respond to environmental changes. There was also a need to focus 

Page 10



4 
 

and build on joint working and partnerships between public, private 
and community sectors.   

 
 The town centre needed to be the focus of activity and prioritisation.  
 
 The TIP would be set out in two sections – context, strategy, 

engagement/planning and projects.  
 
 The evidence base needed to be presented in a way that showed a 

proper process had been followed.  
 
 The TIP will be subject to review against set criteria, with only one 

opportunity for resubmission.  
 
 The Towns Hub would be a key resource and should provide support 

of the preparation of the TIP through providing guidance and 
feedback.  

 
 We were currently at the first stage of the TIP, the next stages will be 

submission followed by agreement to Heads of Terms.  Business 
cases will then need to be submitted within a 12 month period.  

 
 Peter Tooher gave an overview of the interim baseline findings.  
 

 Clay Cross is a key location for significant growth  

 The town centre lacked a centre point however there were 
development opportunities to be able to do this 

 Currently there was a disconnect between the town centre, key 
assets and areas of growth, but there was scope to improve the 
links  

 Traffic and congestion from the A61 detract visitors to the town 
centre so need to look at options for traffic management and 
public realm improvements.  Pedestrian links need improving 

 Community and other key assets i.e. Coney Green, Egstow Park, 
Health and Education facilities, and open spaces are spread 
across the town, and these need to be better connected by 
creating cycle and pedestrian routes  

 
 Going forward we need to think about socio-economics of the area 

and the impact on Covid-19. 
 
 Rachael Lister gave an overview of the market analysis work that 

had been undertaken.  
 

 Gaps had been identified in housing provision. In particular 
smaller, starter homes and apartments to rent  

 There was potential interest from leisure operators given the 
volume of housing delivery i.e. cinema, gym, bowling  

 Employment market was lacking in smaller units  
 

Page 11



5 
 

 Key sites of development opportunity need to be identified as this will 
add to the viability of the town centre.  

 
 There were a number of emerging themes on how we re-discover the 

town centre and growth opportunities including place making, 
heritage and culture; strengthening the heart of the community; 
improving access to leisure, health and recreation; raising aspirations 
among business and the workforce; enhancing connectivity and 
strategic links.  

 
 There are a number of key projects emerging including town centre 

redevelopment, a Community Hub, Leisure provisions, A61 corridor, 
a railway station, better linkages, and a Training and Apprenticeship 
Centre. 

 
 There were also other aspirations that could be considered including 

heritage projects, cultural/youth projects, a low carbon demonstrator 
project, a new primary school and 5G network/town centre wifi.    

 
 Projects would need to align with the Town Fund objectives and 

funding requirements, and the level of public support as well as 
feasibility and deliverability.  Further work on this would need to be 
done before options can be proposed.  

 
 Martin Kirkpatrick gave an overview of the Town Centre Strategy.  

There are tunnels already within the area that could be used to 
create links to the centre.  Space could be freed up within the centre 
to create a heart of the town.  

 
 Parks need to be more accessible and pedestrian/cycle routes can 

be developed/enhanced to achieve this.  
 
 Peter Tooher advised that the next steps would include: 
 

 Finalising baseline analysis  

 Continue with stakeholder engagement  

 Assess consultation feedback 

 Ongoing consultations with stakeholders including Growth Hub, 
NHS/CCG, Network Rail  

 Early engagement with Towns Hub  

 Consider partnership funding opportunities  

 Engage with landowners/occupiers/developers 

 Project scoping 

 Establish priorities with CCTB  

 Work toward a draft IP for consultation 
 
 Lee Hickin advised that prior to the Towns Fund being announced 

there had already been a lot of work on the future of Sharley Park 
Leisure Centre and asked how this would fit in with the future of Clay 

Page 12



6 
 

Cross.  Peter Tooher confirmed that Sport England were keen to 
meet to discuss leisure provision further.  

 
 Andrew King queried the provisions that have been proposed by 

Nexus.  Peter Tooher confirmed that the bid would be based around 
what the local people would like to see and this would come from 
public consultation.   

 
 Cllr Kenyon queried the links that are already within the town i.e. 

access from Sharley Park to Tesco.  Peter Tooher advised that there 
were development opportunities to improve these links around the 
town to make more areas accessible.  

 
CXTB/13/20-21 Logo Designs  
 
 The Chair thanked Chesterfield College for their work on the logo 

designs.  
 
 The logo designs were presented to the Board and views on 

preferred options were sought.  It was agreed that Board Members 
were to submit their preferred option to Karl Apps by the close of 
business.   

 
CXTB/14/20-21 Communications Strategy  
 
 The Communications Strategy had been prepared by Nexus 

Planning with the assistance of NEDDC, and provides an outline of 
how stakeholders will be communicated and engaged with 
throughout the development of the TIP.   

 
 Peter Tooher advised that the first phase of consultation would run 

from 26 June to 10 July.  Consultation would be focused around the 
website, which went live today (26 June), and would be updated 
regularly.  

 
 Post cards would be delivered to residents over the weekend and 

would direct people to the website and provide contact details.  
Posters will also be placed at key areas i.e. local shops.   

 
 A press release would be issued.  
 
 There will also be questions on social media pages, asking the 

community of Clay Cross what they love about the town and what 
would they change.   

 
 The Board noted the work done to date.   
 
 
 
 

Page 13



7 
 

CXTB/15/20-21 Any Other Business 
 
 Cllr Morley commented that following the approval of planning 

permission for a well-known fast food establishment, this would help 
bring younger people into the area.   

 
 Cllr Renwick thanked Nexus Planning for all the work they had done 

over the last couple of weeks.  
 
 

__________  

Page 14



1 
 

CLAY CROSS TOWN BOARD – WORKING GROUP 
 

NOTES OF MEETING HELD ON 10 JULY 2020 
 

Board Members Present: 
 

Gary Golden (Worcester Bosch) ……… Chair 
 
Lee Rowley MP  –  Member of Parliament for North East Derbyshire  
Councillor Carolyn Renwick –  Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth 
Councillor Jeremy Kenyon  –  Portfolio Holder for Transformation & Climate Change 
Councillor Nigel Barker 
Andrew King  –  Clay Cross Town Centre Group Treasurer 
Will Morlidge  - D2N2 
Andy James  –  Sports England 
John Mather  –  Homes England 
Melanie Phythian  –  BEIS 
Martin Kirkpatrick  –  Buttress Architects  
Peter Alford  –  Amion Consulting 
Charlie Steele  –  Thomas Lister 
Janine Foxhall  –  Derbyshire Community Health Services NHS Foundation 

Trust General Manager for Chesterfield and North East 
Derbyshire 

Allison Westray-Chapman  –  Derbyshire County Council Interim Head of Economic 
Development 

Peter Tooher  –  Nexus Planning 
 
Also Present  
 
Karl Apps  –  Joint Housing Strategy and Growth Manager 
Gill Callingham  –  Director of Economic Growth 
Amy Bryan  –  Civic Officer & PA to the Cabinet (Note taker) 
Jade Lewis  –  Governance & Civic Apprentice (Note Taker) 
Niall Clark  –  Rykneld Homes Director of Property Services and 

Development 
Lee Hickin  –  Director of Corporate Resources 
 
 
 
CXB/16/20-21 Apologies for Absence 
 
 Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor M E Thacker 

MBE JP, Councillor T King, Julie Richards, and Angela Stansfield. 
 
CXTB/17/20-21 Declarations of Interest 
 
 No declarations of interest were made.  
 
 
 

Page 15



2 
 

CXTB/18/20-21  Clay Cross additional funding 
 
 Peter Tooher – Nexus Planning, provided a project update to the 

Board. The Board noted that an online survey had been launched, 
and that the Investment Plan needed to be submitted by October. 

 
 The strong themes surrounding Clay Cross’ Investment Plan was 

discussed, as well as what the town centre had to offer, how its 
appearance could be improved, and the leisure and training facilities 
on offer to young people.  

 
 A number of development areas were discussed which included 

Market/Bridge Street, the social centre, DACE former primary school, 
and Bridge Street/Smithy Avenue. 

 
 A number of site specific areas were also discussed which included 

Sharley Park leisure Centre (with innovative energy strategy), and the 
Infill housing sites (including the land opposite Sharley park). The 
Clay Cross Depot (a potential shovel ready project) and the former 
constabulary building. 

 
 The Board made reference to other projects and ideas, such as new 

Leisure Centres, the skills agenda, libraries, rail station, flexible 
workspaces, the ‘green economy’ and lower carbon emissions, 
industrial workspaces and higher skilled employment, youth zones 
and services, the creative arts, and the low carbon demonstrator 
project 

 
 The Clay Cross Town Board also had a wide ranging discussion in 

regards to the opportunities around local housing and attracting new 
residents. 

 
 Lee Rowley MP stated that in regards to the October deadline, a 

framework had been developed and it now needed to be taken 
forward to attract the necessary funding. A number of strategic ways 
forward were discussed so that Clay Cross could attract investment.  

 
 Further reference to the Clay Cross Skills Hub were made, and the 

importance of upskilling the local area to promote higher skilled and 
higher paid employment for residents.   

 
CXTB/19/20-21 Town Hub Co-ordinator feedback 
 
 It was stated that Jenny Adams was our Town Hub Co-ordinator and was 

on hand to steer up to the relevant support for the TIP development.  
 
 Ayrup were the lead consultants and there were 6 consultants with 

specialist support that they could provide. A meeting was to be arranged 
with the Consultation experts Copper.  

 

Page 16



3 
 

CXTB/20/20-21 Flowchart Update 
 
 The Board received an updated that the project was on track with the 

flowchart and it was where it should be at this point. The flowchart 
required an update so that it reflected the submission date of October.  

 
 
CXTB/21/20-21 Nexus Presentation  
 
 Peter Alford – Nexus Planning, gave a presentation to the Clay Cross 

Town Board.  
 
 The presentation outlined a number of projects, some interrelated, which 

would need to be prioritised and realistic. A Long list exercise needed to 
be undertaken with a compliant approach and outline the questions that 
needed to be asked.  It was stated that the board needed to consider 
each project and how it would be taken forward, using expertise and 
professional judgement. 

 
 Karl Apps pulled together a list of the projects. The Board was reminded 

that we needed to go beyond the funding ask, otherwise it would limit the 
scope when it should be a long term project. It was stated that the 
Investment should be laying the foundations for things to be facilitated in 
the future when other organisations were on board. 

 
 Cllr J Kenyon enquired about education in the area and the inclusion of a 

dedicated sixth form. Andrew King added that this could provide 
vocational training and be a good starting point for upskilling. The Board 
had a wide ranging discussion on projects including skills. 

 
 Karl Apps advised that some towns were looking at four large projects, 

and others were looking at maybe 11 smaller projects.  The Board noted 
that it was crucial to follow the feedback, and that for Clay Cross 6 to 7 
projects would be about right. 

 
 The Director of Corporate Resources added that it was important to note 

the transformational element of this, especially if done at the top of the 
scale, as it was not just about leisure. 

 
 Cllr Renwick discussed the use of public estates, and the importance of 

dialogue with surrounding Councils. 
 
 The Board heard that the railway station and the Coney Park 

development were two projects outside of the Town Centre.  There was a 
broader strategy around Sharley Park. Site 14 was potentially deliverable 
early, which was residential.   

 
 It was proposed that Karl Apps and Peter Alford do work on prioritisation 

on what was discussed. 
 

Page 17



4 
 

 Cllr Kenyon added that would be helpful to have someone go through the 
list of projects and point out where they were on the map. 

 
 Lee Hickin – No. 14, the opportunity to deliver early was a great idea but 

needed a design that connected it to Sharley Park and Tesco. It was 
stated that there often confusion between the locations and how to get 
there. 

 
 Karl Apps agreed to break down the presentation into a list and circulate 

it at the start of next week. The Board could then narrow down the list by 
email. Any interconnectivity would be identified. 

 
 It was agreed that the necessary information would be circulated at the 

start of next week and that everyone should feedback comments by 
Friday next week (Friday 17 July).   

 
CXTB/22/20-21 Project Prioritisation and Vision/Objectives 
 
 The Clay Cross Board heard that the projects were beginning to take 

shape and being worked through with each working group. The vision for 
the TIP has been reworked based on the baseline research and the 
Boards aspiration for Clay Cross. 

 
 The Chair asked for comments on the vision from the Board. Lee Rowley 

MP stated that it was a good starting position, and that the TIP was 
ambitious with a clear approach.  

 
 Andrew King added that it was important the project establishes the heart 

of the town as part of the rejuvenation. 
 
 Other Board members agreed that the TIP had a town centred and long 

term vision and focused on residents. 
 
CXTB/23/20-21 Any Other Business 
 
 No Other Business was discussed. 
 
 

__________  

Page 18



 

1 
 

CLAY CROSS TOWN BOARD – WORKING GROUP 
 

NOTES OF MEETING HELD ON 24 JULY 2020 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor C Renwick ……… Chair 
 
 

Councillor Alex Dale  –  Leader of North East Derbyshire District Council 
Councillor J Kenyon  –  Portfolio Holder for Transformation & Climate Change 
Councillor N Barker 
Councillor G Morley  –  Clay Cross Parish Chair 
Lee Rowley MP  –  Member of Parliament for North East Derbyshire 
Peter Alford  –  Amion Consulting 
Janine Foxhall  –  Derbyshire Community Health Services NHS 

Foundation Trust General Manager for Chesterfield and 
North East Derbyshire 

Andrew King  –  Clay Cross Town Centre Group Treasurer 
Martin Kirkpatrick  –  Buttress Architects  
Peter Tooher  –  Nexus Planning  
Allison Westray-Chapman  –  Derbyshire County Council Interim Head of Economic 

Development 
Julie Richards  –  Chesterfield College 
Councillor Tony King  –  Derbyshire County Council  
Warren Manning  –  Derby University 
Andy James  –  Sport England 
Melanie Phythian  –  BEIS 
 
 
Also Present  
 
Karl Apps  –  Joint Housing Strategy and Growth Manager 
Gill Callingham  –  Director of Growth and Economic Development 
Niall Clark  –  Rykneld Homes Director of Property Services and 

Development 
Janet Taylor  –  PA  
 
 
CXTB/24/20-21 Welcome 
 
 Councillor Renwick welcomed all to the meeting and introduced herself 

as Chair for the meeting in the absence of Gary Golden.   
 
CXTB/25/20-21 Apologies for Absence 
 
 Apologies had been received from Gary Golden (Worcester Bosch) 
 
 

Page 19



 

2 
 

CXTB/26/20-21 Declarations of Interest 
 
 No declarations of interest were made.  
 
CXTB/27/20-21 Copper Meeting Update 
 
 Karl Apps provided an update. 
 
 Copper Consultancy had been selected as part of the Town Hub Co-

ordinator support and have reviewed the phase 1 consultation 
approached. They described it as a robust process and are pleased with 
the approach that has been adopted. Copper also reviewed the planned 
phase 2 consultation approach and believe it to be a good engagement 
process. The consultants did state they wished other Town’s had 
adopted a similar approach to consultation. 

 
CXTB/28/20-21 Flow Chart Update  
 
 Karl Apps provided an update to the flow chart. 
 
 Some changes had been made to the flow chart to reflect the extended 

consultation period (3 weeks to 4 weeks) with the final submission to 
Government 31 October 2020. 

 
CXTB/29/20-21 Stage 1 Consultation Summary  
 
 Peter Tooher provided a summary of responses to the survey. 
 
 389 responses had been received to the survey. 
 
 There was a clear sense of improvement required to the town centre, 

leisure facilities, improving the A61, improving the pedestrian 
environment and more facilities for young people. 

 
 Councillor Morley was concerned in respect of the communication 

method used for the survey.  As a resident of the area covered by the 
Investment Plan he had not received a postcard and from making 
enquiries with numerous residents was not aware that anyone else had 
received any communication.   

 
 Peter Tooher confirmed that 3000 leaflets had been distributed but he 

would check with the distributers for any problems encountered.  A 
further leaflet drop was due to be distributed 31 July.  

 
 Councillor Kenyon asked if the responses gave a broad representation of 

Clay Cross.  Peter Tooher would provide a breakdown. 
 
 Councillor Dale asked if the questionnaire had covered the surrounding 

areas of Clay Cross such as Grassmoor as he felt it was important to get 

Page 20



 

3 
 

the views of the wider area.  Peter Tooher replied that the leaflets had 
been distributed within the towns fund area with adverts posted on 
Facebook and press releases done.  Peter Tooher has agreed to send 
copies of the questionnaires to Parish Clerks in wards that are liable to 
use Clay Cross as a primary shopping area. Karl Apps agreed to provide 
Peter Tooher with the contact details of relevant Parish clerks.   

 
CXTB/30/20-21 Baseline Summary and Logic Model   
 
 Peter Alford asked for any comments from the group to be sent to either 

Peter Alford or Karl Apps.  The logic model is a requirement of the 
Investment Plan.   

 
 Andy James commented that in terms of outcomes lots of work has been 

done between Sharley Park Leisure Centre and North East Derbyshire. 
 
 Allison Westray-Chapman informed that Derbyshire County Council had 

an emerging recovery strategy and plan which should be included. 
 
 Councillor Kenyon commented that the approach to surface car parking 

must not be an anti-car plan. 
 
 Councillor Renwick asked the group to read and comment on the model. 
 
CXTB/31/20-21 Project Synopsis Draft  
 
 Peter Tooher gave an update on the proposals for areas in the IP. 
 
 Former Constabulary Building and Former Methodist Church 
 Proposed to reuse these buildings as a creative hub for arts and artisan 

workshops.  DCC willing and able to relocate the countryside service. 
 
 Andrew King commented this would appear to be a quick win and could 

kick start the regeneration of Clay Cross. 
 
 Melanie Phythian commented that Ashfield District Council are 

developing a makers space and could be worth contacting them. 
 
 Peter Tooher suggested developing the group to take forward and 

working with Creative Arts.  Julie Richards would be happy to support. 
 
 There were numerous opportunities for small businesses and 

entrepreneurs. 
 
 Market Street/Bridge Street 
 To create a mixed use commercial, retail, leisure development with upper 

floor residential space sand a small ‘market space’ events area.  Need to 
understand how to engage private sector. 

 

Page 21



 

4 
 

 Andrew King informed the area is one of the tunnel vents for the Midland 
Mainline and could possibly make something of that as start of the 
heritage trail. 

 
 Councillor Morley informed that Clay Cross Parish Council own quite a bit 

of land in this area and there are two vents in Market Street. 
 
 There are also some challenging landowners in the area and how could 

the Board effectively take control of the land. 
 
 Peter Tooher had had conversations with some landowners regarding 

relocation/reprovision.  Work with Iceland would be required for their 
relocation.  There would also be the option of CPO powers. 

 
 Councillor Dale commented on the small provision of 23 car parking 

spaces is this sufficient?  Overall there is plenty of car parking in Clay 
Cross at the moment but whether it is in the right area needs to be 
considered. 

 
 Andrew King informed there was a lot of surface parking which was not 

good use of space, was there any possibility of underground parking?  All 
potential options on the table. 

 
 The town centre needs to be flexible. 
 
 DCC said there was a possibility of the relocation of the bus station. 
 
 Bridge Street/Smithy Street 
 This would be a complimentary project to Market Street.  Looking to bring 

in residential development and leisure activity.  There is an opportunity to 
make better use of Tesco carpark.  This would be picked up with Tesco 
to aid connectivity. 

 
 Clay Cross Training, Learning and Enterprise Hub 
 An element of this work would be the demolition of the former [primary 

school.  There would be a creation of the training hub and lightly develop 
around existing educational building. 

 
 Peter Alford informed that discussions had been taking place with 

stakeholders and beginning to get a view of training facilities and 
enhancing the quality of existing facilities.  The project will accommodate 
a Worcester Bosch training facility and integrate skills and training 
delivery from Chesterfield College. The project would also factor in the 
relocation of the Social Centre. 

 
 Julie Richards commented that this was potentially a fantastic opportunity 

and really relevant to Clay Cross. There was an opportunity of additional 
funding from the D2N2 recovery strategy.  The digital infrastructure is 

Page 22



 

5 
 

critical.  In respect of timescales was there going to be individual working 
groups and priorities given to individual projects? 

 
 Peter Tooher informed that the Training and Skills working group was 

already meeting and other groups would be established. 
 
 Further work is required on actual costs and funding from other sources. 
 
 Sharley Park and Sharley Park Leisure Centre 
 Talks are being held regarding the provision of a cinema/bowling alley. 

Some infill site would be looked at through the 1 public estate.  Leisure 
was key in the responses received from the survey.   This area would 
focus around sports and leisure.  The library would be located in the town 
centre and not within the leisure centre. 

 
 There is a longer term proposal for a district heating facility to be located 

at the leisure centre.  Andy James expressed a concern on the energy 
project at the leisure centre.  Peter Tooher informed the boiler runs off 
hydrogen and not dissimilar to proposals for leisure centres.  Andy 
James thought it would be beneficial for Peter Tooher to attend the next 
meeting of the Sharley Park Steering Group. 

 
 Councillor Kenyon asked if there was a way of sequencing the infill 

housing and parking, having parking for say 10 years with permission for 
residential use after. 

 
 Consideration could be given to a joint access between Sharley Park and 

the Community Hospital to improve connectivity.  Janine Foxhall was 
keen to develop this consideration. 

 
 Councillor Renwick commented this would be a good tie in to leisure and 

wellbeing. 
 
 Andy James suggested it would be a good idea to do a presentation to 

the Town Board at a future meeting. 
 
 Green Infrastructure – Kenning Park/Sharley Park Leisure Centre 
 Proposals for a measured mile around Kenning Park, disc golf course 

which already has connections in Clay Cross.  Sport England had 
proposals for an artificial turn football pitch at Sharley Park.  Peter 
Tooher commented that the owner of the Bret Club interested in the 
future use of the area.  If the library was relocated then an alternative use 
for the building could be allocated to a model railway as there had been 
discussions with an enthusiast. 

 
 Derbyshire County Council would like to relocate the library as it doesn’t 

have a large footfall at present.  This could link to digital suite and 
training. 

 

Page 23



 

6 
 

 A61 Market Street/High Street traffic management 
 Encourage Derbyshire County Council to work up what this is to look like 

and be more pedestrian friendly and enable traffic to move through 
strategic route.  Remove unnecessary traffic from heart of centre.  There 
is an opportunity for greater connections to adult education centre.  
Councillor Kenyon asked if there was an approach to heavy goods 
vehicles not using this route as cars getting cleaner and quieter.  Andrew 
King commented that there had been an increase in the speed and flow 
of traffic along Market Street and it should be encouraged that Market 
Street be used less. 

 
 Town wide low carbon travel 
 Not taking through as a separate workstream but embed the strategy in 

other projects.   
 
 Councillor Kenyon commented that electric charging points and electric 

scooters should be embedded into plans. 
 
 Pedestrian/cycle link 
 This would draw all assets together in the scheme. 
 
 Railway Station 
 Discussion are continuing with HS2 but it is likely to be towards 2030 

before construction takes place and runs a real risk of being aborted 
work.  An alternative would be to investigate the possibility of a station on 
the Derby line.   

 
 It is proposed that in terms of the bod to refer to the potential of a station.  

Possibility of seeking funding for a joint feasibility study with Network 
Rail.   

 
 Clay Cross Depot 
 This site is opposite Tesco and picked up in the OPE work.  This site was 

originally intended for short terms leases to companies but has now 
turned into long term.  Although not looked at in this scheme the Council 
will have to address regardless as it carries significant liability. 

 
 District Heating Network 
 This is a potential project for Clay and given Clay Cross’ history would be 

an exciting development.  The project would be potentially solar and 
hydrogen powered. 

 
 Alan King requested that all projects bear in mind the need for 

accessibility for disabled and not just physically disabled. Signage needs 
to be key. 

 
 Councillor Renwick said there was still lots of work to do but couldn’t wait 

to see the next stage. 
 

Page 24



 

7 
 

 The Board agreed to proceed with projects to the next stage. 
 
CXTB/32/20-21 Draft Consultation Material Stage 2  
 
 It was proposed to distribute the leaflet to all addresses in Clay Cross 

with the headlines of previous consultation.  This would be supported by 
a press release and posters across the town.  There would also be a 
single exhibition board in various locations encouraging people to 
complete the survey. 

 
 The consultation to last for four weeks with the final draft ready by the 

end of September. 
 
 Peter Tooher is in talks with Tesco’s Community Liaison Team to be able 

to reach a captive audience.  Karl Apps would enquire if there was any 
capacity within the Partnerships team to offer assistance. 

 
 Any comments to be forwarded to Nexus within the next three weeks. 
 
CXTB/33/20-21 Any Other Business 
 
 Karl Apps had monitored the feed from the meeting and made notes of 

the chat. 
 
 Councillor Renwick thanked all for attending.   

Page 25



 

 
 

 

Clay Cross Town Investment Plan 

Consultation Report - Draft 
 

on behalf of North East Derbyshire District Council and the Clay 

Cross Town Board 
September 2020 

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



    

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact 
 
Eastgate 
2 Castle Street 
Castlefield 
Manchester 
M3 4LZ 
 
T: 0161 819 6570 
E: info@nexusplanning.co.uk 

Page 27

mailto:info@nexusplanning.co.uk


 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   3 
 

 

Contents 
 

 
1.0 Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

2.0 Phase One Consultation June to July 2020 ...................................................................................................................... 5 

3.0 Phase Two Consultation July to August 2020 .............................................................................................................. 16 

4.0 BDA Consultation..................................................................................................................................................................... 24 

5.0 My Towns – Clay Cross .......................................................................................................................................................... 25 

6.0 Summary ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 26 

 

Appendices 
 
 

Appendix A: Phase One Questionniare 

Appendix B: Phase Two Questionnaire 

Appendix C: BDA Questionnaire 

 
  

Page 28



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   4 
 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The purpose of this document is to provide an overview of the findings of the various stages and 

methods of consultation that have been employment in order to inform the preparation and drafting 

of the Clay Cross Town Investment Plan. This document provides a summary of the findings of the 

stages of consultation, and also sets out the key messages. 

1.2 As part of the development of the Clay Cross Town Investment Plan, Nexus Planning, working 

alongside North East Derbyshire District Council and the Clay Cross Towns Board, issued two online 

questionnaires to residents, businesses and employers within Clay Cross.  

1.3 The consultation primarily ran in two phases, Phase 1 from Friday 26th June to Monday 13th July and 

Phase 2 from Friday 31st July to Monday 24th August. 

1.4 In Phase 1, residents, local businesses and stakeholders were invited to respond to an online survey 

that set out a broad range of questions and themes in order to gauge the views and seek feedback 

from the community. Following this, Phase 2 related to the final draft Investment Plan and invited the 

community to comment on the proposals contained within the Plan. 

1.5 The results of Phases 1 and 2 are set out below. 

1.6 Other consultation methods have included the Government’s MyTown portal and a process led by 

the BDA in order to engage with members of the Clay Cross Deaf community. 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   5 
 

 

2.0 Phase One Consultation June to July 2020 

Introduction 

2.1 The consultation period ran from 26th June to 13th July and the surveys were publicised via online 

sources, the Council’s website and social media accounts, local news organisations, circulation by 

local community groups and organisations, posters displayed throughout Clay Cross and through 

hand-delivery to all addresses in the town itself of a post card notifying the community of the 

consultation. A copy of the questionnaire is provided at Appendix A. 

2.2 In total, 389 surveys were completed.  

Summary 

2.3 The majority of respondents (84.24%) were aged between 25 and 64 and the majority (62.8%) 

provided their postcode as being within S45, which covers Clay Cross and Ashover to the west and 

Pilsley to the east, and 61.68% of respondents live in Clay Cross.  

2.4 Private motor vehicles are the preferred mode of transport for travelling to work/school or college 

(71.66%) or when visiting the town centre (64.04%). A total of 27.56% of respondents visit the town 

centre on foot. 

2.5 Respondents reported that their top factors for liking Clay Cross are that it is a friendly place (13.0%), 

close to the countryside (6.5%), benefits from free parking (6.2%), the opportunities for shopping 

(5.9%) has a sense of community spirit (3.1%).  

2.6 To improve Clay Cross, respondents believe that more shops, a new leisure centre and improvements 

to the A61 are the top priorities. 67.28% of respondents reported that better provision of shops would 

encourage them to visit Clay Cross town centre more frequently. Other key responses include better 

leisure facilities (56.20%) and more fun things to do (48.81%). In regards additional community or 

leisure facilities, the top response provided when asked this question was improvements to the 

existing leisure facilities (14.81%) alongside a new leisure facility (8.05%). 

Page 30



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   6 
 

 

2.7 When respondents were asked to indicate the importance of a number of possible projects, 62.60% 

of respondents stated that improving the appearance of the town centre was a very important project. 

There is wide support for projects being located centrally in Clay Cross, with 22.27% of respondents 

saying that these should be located in the town centre, 8.18% stated Market Street and 4.09% stated 

High Street. Within the any other comments box we received a number of comments and the key 

topics included: 

• The prevalence of anti-social behaviour 

• The need to improve the town centre 

• Providing activities for children/young people 

• Reducing vehicular movement through the town 

Survey Results 

2.8 Question 1 of the survey asked respondents whether they agreed to the Council’s GDPR rules and if 

they were happy for their answers to be used within the report. We have not published these answers 

here. The responses below are from those who agreed to the GDPR rules. 

Question 2: Which age category are you within? 

 

2.9 A total of 42.64% of respondents were aged between 45 and 64 and 41.60% were aged between 25 

and 44. 5.43% of respondents were aged under 24, with 0.78% being aged under 16. Respondents 

aged over 80 totalled 0.26% of respondents. 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Other (please specify)

Prefer not to say

Over 80

65-79

45-64

25-44

16-24

Under 16

Which age category are you within?

Page 31



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   7 
 

 

Question 3: Please provide your post code 

2.10 The three most common post code responses are S45 – Clay Cross, Ashover, Pilsley - (169 responses, 

62.8% of the total), S42 - Holymoorside, Grassmoor, North Wingfield, Tupton, Wingerworth, Mastin 

Moor - (55 responses, 20.4% of the total) and DE55 – Alfreton - (21 responses, 7.8% of the total). 

Question 4: Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross? 

 

2.11 The majority of respondents lived in Clay Cross (61.68% of total respondents). However, in respect of 

working or attending school in Clay Cross a majority of respondents did not, with just 4.66% of 

respondents attending school and 27.93% working in Clay Cross. The figure in respect of school 

attendance is reflective of the age range of survey respondents. 

Question 5: How do you usually travel…? 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Do you live in Clay Cross?

Do you work in Clay Cross?

Do you attend school in Clay Cross?

Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?

No Yes

Page 32



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   8 
 

 

 

2.12 In respect of modes of transport, it is clear that private motor vehicle use is the predominant means 

of transport in Clay Cross. A total of 71.66% of respondents use a private motor vehicle for travelling 

to work/school or college, and 64.04% of respondents reported the same when visiting the town 

centre. 27.56% of respondents reported travelling on foot when visiting the town centre, however low 

figures for cycling (1.57%) and bus (5.25%) were reported. The use of public transport was low for 

travelling to/from work and school/college and for visiting the town centre. 

Question 6: What do you like most about Clay Cross? 

2.13 When asked this question, the top response provided was that Clay Cross is a friendly place (13.0%), 

with respondents also liking that it is close to the countryside (6.5%), benefits from free parking (6.2%), 

the opportunities for shopping (5.9%) and the town’s community spirit (3.1%). Interestingly, 2.5% of 

respondents replied that they like ‘nothing’ about Clay Cross. 

Question 7: What is your top priority to improve Clay Cross? 

2.14 The top five responses provided to improve Clay Cross were more shops, a new leisure centre, 

improving the A61 as it moves through the town centre, improvements to the appearance and 

streetscape and finally to pedestrianise market street. 

Question 8: How often do you visit the town centre? 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

n/a

Other

On foot

Taxi

Train

Bus

Private Motor Vehicle

Bicycle

How do you usually travel…?

When visiting the town centre When travelling to work / school or college

Page 33



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   9 
 

 

 

2.15 The overwhelming majority of respondents (66.15%) reported visiting the town centre either daily or 

more than once a week (19.64% and 46.51% respectively). A further 19.90% of respondents reported 

visiting once a week. This demonstrates that a substantial number of respondents visit the centre at 

least once a week. 

Question 9: Why do you visit the town centre? 

 

2.16 In terms of reasons for visiting the town centre, to buy food and grocery items was reported by 

92.43% of respondents. This is perhaps reflective of the strong food and grocery offer in the town 

centre. Other top responses include to eat out/drinking (38.12%), for personal services, e.g. bank, 

hairdresser, solicitor etc. (36.81%) and to access community or health facilities (32.11%). Visiting the 

town centre for work (21.93%) and because the respondent lived in the town centre (4.70%) were the 

least common responses. 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200

Less often / not regularly

Monthly

Once every 2-3 weeks

Once a week

More than once a week

Daily

How often do you visit the town centre?

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

I live in the town centre

To visit Kenning Park

To visit Sharley Leisure Centre

To access community of health facilities

Work

Eat out / drinking

For personal services (e.g bank, hairdresser, solicitor etc)

To buy non-food goods (i.e shoes, clothes etc)

To buy food and grocery items (not take-away etc)

Why do you visit the town centre?

Page 34



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   10 
 

 

Question 10: Are there any other reasons why you visit the town centre? 

2.17 When asked this question, other than the reasons listed above, 4.93% of respondents stated that they 

visit the town centre to attend the doctors, 3.45% visit to access takeaways, to take exercise and to 

visit the library. 2.96% of respondents visit Clay Cross town centre to access the post office. 

Question 11: Which of these would encourage you to visit the town centre more frequently? 

 

2.18 67.28% of respondents reported that better provision of shops would encourage them to visit Clay 

Cross town centre more frequently. Other key responses include better leisure facilities (56.20%), 

more fun things to do (48.81%), more restaurants/cafés (42.74%) and a better or safer environment 

(41.16%). More places to work was the least common response (13.72%) and other responses 

provided include less traffic, reconfiguration of how the town centre is accessed, better public 

transport links and more spaces to sit in the centre.  

Question 12: What additional community, leisure or other facilities would you like to see in 

the town centre? 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Other (please specify)

More pedestrian or cycle linkages

Community events

Better leisure facilities

Better community services

Better or safe environment

Better provision of shops

More places to work

More fun things to do

More restaurant / cafes

Which of these would encourage you to visit the town centre 
more frequently?

Page 35



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   11 
 

 

2.19 By some margin, the top response provided when asked this question was improvements to the 

existing leisure facilities (14.81%) alongside a new leisure facility (8.05%). This shows that there is wide 

community support for improvements to the leisure offer in Clay Cross. The next two top responses 

were for more activities for children and teenagers, both at 7.01%. All of these responses show that 

there is support for a stronger range of facilities aimed at the community. Beyond this, other top 

responses include a better range of shops (6.49%), provision of a market (5.97%), a better range of 

food and drink options (5.71%) and a bank in the town centre (4.94%). 

Question 13: Which of the following possible project are most important to you? 

 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

An improved range of shops, cafes and other businesses in the…

A market or farmers market

A central town square for community events and markets

Cycle routes throughout Clay Cross

Improved facilities at Sharley Park Leisure Centre

More play spaces

More active leisure facilities (e.g. gym equipment) at Sharley…

Improved pedestrian routes in the town centre

Improving the appearance of the town centre

Improving skills provision

New homes in the town centre

More jobs

Reducing traffic through the town centre

Enhanced health infrastructure

Improved digital connections

Improved public transport links

Zero carbon projects

Which of the following possible projects are most important to 
you?

Not important Not very important Somewhat important Important Very important

Page 36



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   12 
 

 

2.20 When respondents were asked to indicate the importance of a number of possible projects, 62.60% 

of respondents stated that improving the appearance of the town centre was a very important project. 

The other two top-three ‘very important’ projects were improved facilities at Sharley Park Leisure 

Centre (52.88%) and an improved range of shops, cafés and other businesses in the town centre 

(48.29%). The three projects considered to be the least important were zero carbon projects (21.64% 

very important), cycle routes throughout Clay Cross (18.73% very important) and new homes in the 

town centre (5.05% very important). 

Question 14: Do you have any ideas as to where any of the possible projects above should be 

located? 

2.21 There is wide support for these projects being located centrally in Clay Cross, with 22.27% of 

respondents saying that these should be located in the town centre, 8.18% stated Market Street and 

4.09% stated High Street. Reflective of the support for updating the leisure offer in Clay Cross, 16.82% 

of respondents stated that Sharley Park would be their preferred location for a possible project. There 

is also broad support for ensuring that projects make use of current vacant sites, with 11.83% of 

respondents stating that either the old school ground, the former job centre or vacant buildings and 

sites in the town centre would be their location for possible projects.  

Question 15: Do you feel that your employment prospects would benefit from additional 

skills-based training? 

 
0 50 100 150 200 250

Yes

No

Do you feel that your employment prospects would benefit from 
additional skills-based training?

Page 37



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   13 
 

 

2.22 56.07% of respondents stated that their employment prospects would not benefit from any additional 

skills-based training, however 43.93% of respondents felt that their employment prospects would. 

2.23 Further analysis of this question has been undertaken in order to gain an understanding of the age 

profile of those responding ‘Yes’. On review, respondents aged under 16 (66.67%), 16-24 (55.56%) 

and over 80 (100%) were those who responded that their employment prospects would benefit from 

additional skills-based training. Those aged 25-44, 46-64 and 65-79 answered ‘No’ at 53.42%, 59.39% 

and 61.54% respectively. 

Question 16: Do you feel that there is sufficient opportunity to gain additional training in 

Clay Cross? 

 

2.24 52.45% of respondents felt that there are not sufficient opportunities to gain additional training in 

Clay Cross. When asked to clarify their responses, respondents mainly stated that they were either 

not sure or aware of any opportunities or that they had to travel to Chesterfield in order to access 

these. 

Question 17: Are you interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross? 

0 50 100 150 200 250

Yes

No

Do you feel that there is sufficient opportunity to gain additional 
training in Clay Cross?

Page 38



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   14 
 

 

 

2.25 11.63% of respondents stated that they are interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross. 

Question 18: Do you run your own business in Clay Cross? 

 

2.26 10.59% of respondents stated that they currently run their own business in Clay Cross. 

Question 19: If you run a business, what changes can be made to support and help develop 

your business? 

2.27 13.46% of respondents stated that both improvements to the streetscape/cleanliness of Clay Cross 

and more support for local business were the top changes that could be made. Additionally, help with 

business rates (9.62%) and improvements to access into the centre (7.69%) were key responses. 

Question 20: Are you interested in renting business premises in Clay Cross? 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Yes

No

Are you interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross?

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Yes

No

Do you run your own business in Clay Cross?

Page 39



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   15 
 

 

 

2.28 9.19% of respondents stated that they are currently interested in renting business premises in Clay 

Cross. 

Question 21: Finally, do you have any comments? 

2.29 Within the any other comments box we received a number of comments and the key topics included: 

a. The prevalence of anti-social behaviour 

b. The need to improve the town centre 

c. Providing activities for children/young people 

d. Reducing vehicular movement through the town 

2.30 Improvements to local services and facilities, and a greater diversity of shops in the town were also 

supported, as were improvements to recreation and leisure facilities in the town. However, it should 

also be noted that a number of comments stated that generally Clay Cross was a nice place to live, 

with a strong community but that the town required an update and improvement. 

2.31 Other comments stated that the town needs a community space and additional food and drink 

venues to increase the evening economy.  

 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Yes

No

Are you interested in renting business premises in Clay Cross?

Page 40



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   16 
 

 

3.0 Phase Two Consultation July to August 2020 

Introduction 

3.1 A questionnaire was distributed to residents, businesses and employers within Clay Cross. This was 

primarily distributed through online channels (Survey Monkey), however paper copies of the survey 

were located in the following destinations throughout Clay Cross: 

a. Clay Cross DIY at 17 Market Street  

b. The Body Health Centre 4 The Mall Market St  

c. Smiths Creamland Ices 113 High Street  

d. Post Office and Convenience store 42 High Street  

e. Taylors Corn Stores 4 Market Street  

f. Newsagents 41-43 Market Street  

3.2 Building on the first phase of consultation that took place in late June/early July 2020, the consultation 

ran from 31st July to 24th August. The process was publicised via online sources, the Council’s website 

and social media accounts, local news organisations, circulation by local community groups and 

organisations, including Parish Councils, posters displayed throughout Clay Cross and through hand-

delivery to all addresses in the town itself of a leaflet and post card notifying the community of the 

consultation on two separate occasions. An article was also published in ‘The News’ publication that 

is distributed to residents throughout Clay Cross. Advertisements and social media promotions were 

also targeted at residents in Clay Cross. A copy of the questionnaire is provided at Appendix B. 

3.3 In total, 232 surveys were completed.  

Summary 

3.4 The majority of respondents (81.89%) were aged between 25 and 64 and the majority (68.28%) 

provided their postcode as being within S45, which covers Clay Cross and Ashover to the west and 

Page 41



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   17 
 

 

Pilsley to the east, and 63.32% of respondents live in Clay Cross. Furthermore, a total of 12.07% of 

respondents operate their own business in Clay Cross. 

3.5 In respect of the draft Vision for Clay Cross, 91.38% of respondents reported that they broadly agreed 

with the draft Vision. When asked whether the draft Vision could be improved, the most common 

response included adding references to quality of life and health and well-being in the draft Vision. 

Other recurring themes included traffic and pedestrian management, cycle links and public transport 

and the need to accommodate activities for older children/teenagers and to provide for an improved 

leisure provision. 

3.6 When respondents were asked to indicate the importance of a number of possible projects, 65.95% 

of respondents stated that a replacement leisure centre and improvements to Sharley Park was a very 

important project. The other two top-three ‘very important’ projects were traffic management and 

public realm works in particular on High Street, Market Street and Eyre Street (62.22%) and 

improvements to building frontage especially on High Street and Market Street (55.90%). The most 

common projects for which respondents answered ‘not important’ were new homes on sites in the 

urban area (34.06%), a potential road link between Market Street and the Tesco car park (20.09%) and 

new low-carbon workspace at Coney Green (12.66%). 

3.7 In terms of other projects that respondents thought should be included in the Plan, common 

responses included the need to further consider vehicular movement through Clay Cross, more 

projects focusing on additional tree planting and green spaces, the need to improve existing and 

provide new leisure facilities and providing better cycle links throughout the Town. In respect of 

whether anything else should be considered in developing the Plan, it is suggested that further 

consideration should be given to re-instating a market in the Clay Cross, improvement to leisure 

facilities in the Town and improvements to local parks and so that they provide more facilities for 

children and young people. 

3.8 Finally, when asked whether they supported the emerging strategy to transform Clay Cross, 95.69% 

of respondents answered ‘yes’. 

Survey Results 

Page 42



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   18 
 

 

3.9 Question 1 of the survey asked respondents whether they agreed to the Council’s GDPR rules and if 

they were happy for their answers to be used within the report. We have not published these answers 

here. The responses below are from those who agreed to the GDPR rules. 

Question 2: Which age category are you within? 

 

3.10 A total of 43.10% of respondents were aged between 45 and 64 and 38.79% were aged between 25 

and 44. 3.45% of respondents were aged under 24, with 0.43% being aged under 16. Respondents 

aged over 65 totalled 14.22% of respondents, although no respondents were aged over 80. 0.86% of 

respondents answered ‘prefer not to say’ to this question. 

Question 3: Please provide your post code 

3.11 The three most common post code responses were S45 - Clay Cross, Ashover, Pilsley - (155 responses, 

68.28% of the total), S42 - Holymoorside, Grassmoor, North Wingfield, Tupton, Wingerworth, Mastin 

Moor - (50 responses, 22.03% of the total) and DE55 – Alfreton (14 responses, 6.17% of the total). 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Other (please specify)

Prefer not to say

Over 80

65-79

45-64

25-44

16-24

Under 16

Which age category are you within?

Page 43



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   19 
 

 

3.12 2 responses were provided for S41 and S40 respectively, equating to 0.88% of respondents. 

Question 4: Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross? 

 

3.13 The majority of respondents lived in Clay Cross (63.32% of total respondents). However, in respect of 

working or attending school in Clay Cross a majority of respondents did not, with just 3.64% of 

respondents attending school and 29.07% working in Clay Cross. The figure in respect of school 

attendance is perhaps reflective of the age range of survey respondents. 

Question 5: Do you run your own business in Clay Cross? 

 

3.14 12.07% of respondents (25 responses) stated that they currently run their own business in Clay Cross. 

Question 6: Do you broadly agree with the draft Vision for Clay Cross? 

0 50 100 150 200 250

Do you live in Clay Cross?

Do you work in Clay Cross?

Do you attend school in Clay Cross?

Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?

No Yes

0 50 100 150 200 250

Yes

No

Do you run your own business in Clay Cross?

Page 44



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   20 
 

 

 

3.15 When presented with a copy of the draft Vision, a total of 91.38% of respondents answered that they 

broadly agreed with the Vision.  

Question 7: Could the draft Vision be improved? If so, how? 

3.16 Respondents provided a range of answers to this question, however the most common responses 

focused on the need to include references to quality of life and health and well-being in the Vision. 

Oher suggested improvements included mentioning improvements to traffic management, providing 

a more specific focus on Market Street, concerns around relocating the bus station, the need to 

include references to cycle links and inclusion of activities for older children/teenagers. 

3.17 Overall, recurring themes as to how the Vision could be improved focused around health and well-

being, traffic and pedestrian management, cycle links and public transport and the need to 

accommodate activities for older children/teenagers and to provide for an improved leisure provision. 

Question 8: How important are the following proposed projects to you? 

0 50 100 150 200 250

Yes

No

Do you broadly agree with the draft Vision for Clay Cross?

Page 45



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   21 
 

 

 

3.18 When respondents were asked to indicate the importance of a number of possible projects, 65.95% 

of respondents stated that a replacement leisure centre and improvements to Sharley Park was a very 

important project. The other two top-three ‘very important’ projects were traffic management and 

public realm works in particular on High Street, Market Street and Eyre Street (62.22%) and 

improvements to building frontage especially on High Street and Market Street (55.90%). 

3.19 The three projects which had the largest response of ‘not important’ were new homes on sites in the 

urban area (34.06%), a potential road link between Market Street and the Tesco car park (20.09%) and 

new low-carbon workspace at Coney Green (12.66%). 

Question 9: Are there any other projects that should be included in the Plan? 

3.20 As a response to this question a number of projects were mentioned, however the most commonly 

mentioned included: 

a. The need to ensure greater access to doctor’s surgeries in the Town 

b. The need to further consider vehicular movement through Clay Cross 

0 50 100 150 200

Market Street- a market square and new development to…

A new skills and community hub centred around the existing…

A new town centre mixed use area at Bridge Street / Smithy…

A replacement leisure centre and improvements to Sharley Park

Traffic management and public realm works in particular on…

A creative enterprise hub centred around the former…

Planning for a new Railway Station in the longer term

New homes on sites in the urban area

Creating a low-carbon energy network

New low-carbon workspace at Coney Green

Improved pedestrian and cycle linkages

Improvements to building frontage especially on High Street…

A potential road link between Market Street and the Tesco car…

How important are the following proposed projects to you?

Not important Somewhat important Important Very important

Page 46



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   22 
 

 

c. More projects focusing on additional tree planting and green spaces 

d. The need to improve existing and provide new leisure facilities 

e. Providing better cycle links throughout the Town 

f. Improving the Town’s accessibility, possibly through delivery of the train station 

g. Improvements to existing services and facilities, including provision of a bank 

Question 10: Is there anything else that we should consider in developing the Plan? 

3.21 101 respondents provided an answer to this question, with a significant number stating that there 

was nothing further that should be considered in developing the Plan. Of those who did provide a 

response, it is suggested that further consideration should be given to re-instating a market in the 

Clay Cross, improvement to leisure facilities in the Town and improvements to local parks and so that 

they provide more facilities for children and young people. Finally, more parking and a stronger 

provision of facilities and services for the community, such as a bank, were also suggested by 

respondents. 

Question 11: Do you support the emerging strategy to transform Clay Cross? 

 
0 50 100 150 200 250

Yes

No

Do you support the emerging strategy to transform Clay Cross?

Page 47



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   23 
 

 

3.22 Finally, respondents were asked to indicate whether they supported the emerging strategy for Clay 

Cross. 95.69% of respondents answered that they supported the emerging strategy. 

 

 

Page 48



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   24 
 

 

4.0 BDA Consultation 

Introduction 

4.1 The British Deaf Association is leading on a consultation process aimed at the Deaf community in 

Clay Cross. This process is currently ongoing and is anticipated to end on 18th September 2020. Once 

this process has ended, a full summary of the results obtained will be produced. 

4.2 In the meantime, a copy of the questionnaire can be found at Appendix C. 

 

 

  

Page 49



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   25 
 

 

5.0 My Towns – Clay Cross 

5.1 As part of Towns Fund process, the Government launched the ‘MyTown’ portal. Through this portal, 

local residents have the opportunity to submit their ideas as to how improvements to skills and 

transport may be achieved, how new jobs could be created and how their local community could be 

regenerated.  

5.2 As one of the 101 places identified by the Government, Clay Cross has a ‘MyTown’ page on which 

local residents have been submitting their ideas for the town. During the consultation process, this 

page has been closely monitored in order to understand key themes that have been mentioned by 

the local community with this information being considered and fed into the emerging Plans for Clay 

Cross.  

5.3 The following are the main themes that have been expressed by the local community on the Clay 

Cross ‘MyTown’ portal: 

• Traffic controls and improvements – this includes speed bumps on local roads and 

opening up Bridge Street to traffic and providing a train station in the town 

• Green infrastructure – including the upgrading of local bridleways to form a cycle 

network and provide a network of green spaces in Clay Cross 

• Encourage healthy lifestyles – control and limit the number of fast-food outlets in Clay 

Cross 

• Car parking – a need to maintain car parking in to the town centre 

• Ensuring the character of Clay Cross is maintained, particularly its heritage buildings 

and that the town’s history is expressed 

• Improving the appearance of the town centre 

• Improve shopping options and leisure options (including leisure centre and ice rink) in 

Clay Cross  

5.4 The above themes have been considered and are included in the proposals for Clay Cross. 

Page 50



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council   26 
 

 

6.0 Summary 

6.1 This report provides an overview and summarises the various stages of consultation that have 

informed the preparation and drafting of the Clay Cross Town Investment Plan. This report details the 

four main methods of consultation, Phase 1 from Friday 26th June to Monday 13th July, Phase 2 from 

Friday 31st July to Monday 24th August, through the BDA in order to consult with the Deaf community 

in Clay Cross and through the Government’s MyTown portal. 

6.2 Where the consultations have concluded, this report provides a summary of the results obtained and 

disseminates key themes that have arisen through the process. 

  

Page 51



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

 
 

Appendix A: Phase One Questionnaire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 52



Introduction

Clay Cross has been selected as one of the 100 towns to take part in the Towns Fund process. The aim
of the Towns Fund is to promote the sustainable economic regeneration of towns to deliver long term
economic and productivity growth.  

You can find more information on Clay Cross and the Towns Fund at https://www.ne-
derbyshire.gov.uk/business-with-us/clay-cross-town-investment-plan

Please try to answer the following survey as things were prior to the COVID-19 restrictions being put
in place or as you expect them to be as the country moves back to a more normal way of life.

Clay Cross Towns Fund 

Public Consultation – Stage 1: Issues and Opportunities

Survey Form – We want your views!

Protecting Your Data

The information you provide on this form will only be processed for the purpose for which it has been given and will not be used for
additional purposes without your consent. This means the information you provide will not be used to identify you personally, will be kept
strictly confidential and will not be passed to any third parties.

For more details on GDPR please go to the following link and view ‘Guide to the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)’: 
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/

Nexus Planning's privacy policy can be found here https://www.nexusplanning.co.uk/privacy-policy

1. If you are happy to proceed with the survey on this basis, please select the Yes Box below:*

Yes - I am happy to proceed on this basis. I consent to Nexus Planning and North East Derbyshire Council retaining and using my
information for internal publication and external publication.

No (End of Survey)

1Page 53

https://www.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/business-with-us/clay-cross-town-investment-plan
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/


Clay Cross Towns Fund 

Public Consultation – Stage 1: Issues and Opportunities

Survey Form – We want your views!

2. About you?

Which age category are you within? (select one only)

*

Under 16

16-24

25-44

45-64

65-79

Over 80

Prefer not to say

Other (please specify)

3. Please could you provide your postcode.

 Yes No

Do you live in Clay
Cross?

Do you work in Clay
Cross?

Do you attend school in
Clay Cross?

4. Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?

2Page 54



 
Bicycle

Private
motor

vehicle Bus Train Taxi On foot Other n/a

When travelling to work /
school or college

When visiting the town
centre

5. How do you usually travel?

6. What do you like most about Clay Cross?

7. What is your top priority to improve Clay Cross?

8. About Clay Cross town centre

How often do you visit the town centre? (select one only)

*

Daily

More than once a week

Once a week

Once every 2-3 weeks

Monthly

Less often / not regularly

3Page 55



9. Why do you visit the town centre? (tick all that apply)

To buy food and grocery items (not take-away etc)

To buy non-food goods (i.e shoes, clothes etc)

For personal services (e.g bank, hairdresser, solicitor etc)

Eat out / drinking

Work

To access community of health facilities

To visit Sharley Leisure Centre

To visit Kenning Park

I live in the town centre

10. Are there any other reasons why you visit the town centre?

11. About Clay Cross

Which of these would encourage you to visit the town centre more frequently? (tick all that apply)

More restaurant / cafes

More fun things to do

More places to work

Better provision of shops

Better or safe environment

Better community services

Better leisure facilities

Community events

More pedestrian or cycle linkages

Other (please specify)

12. What additional community, leisure or other facilities would you like to see in the town centre?

4Page 56



 Very important Important Somewhat important Not very important Not important

An improved range of
shops, cafes and other
businesses in the town
centre

A market or farmers
market

A central town square for
community events and
markets

Cycle routes throughout
Clay Cross

Improved facilities at
Sharley Park Leisure
Centre

More play spaces

More active leisure
facilities (e.g. gym
equipment) at Sharley
Park or Kenning Park

Improved pedestrian
routes in the town centre

Improving the
appearance of the town
centre

Improving skills provision

New homes in the town
centre

More jobs

Reducing traffic through
the town centre

Enhanced health
infrastructure

Improved digital
connections

Improved public
transport links

Zero carbon projects

13. Which of the following possible projects are most important to you?

5Page 57



14. Do you have any ideas as to where any of the possible projects above should be located?

15. About Business and Skills

Do you feel that your employment prospects would benefit from additional skills-based training?

*

Yes

No

If no, please explain your answer.

16. Do you feel that there is sufficient opportunity to gain additional training in Clay Cross? If no, please
explain your answer.

*

Yes

No

17. Are you interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross?*

Yes

No

18. Do you run your own business in Clay Cross? If no, proceed to Question 20*

Yes

No

19. If you run a business, what changes can be made to support and help develop your business?

20. Are you interested in renting business premises in Clay Cross?

Yes

No

6Page 58



21. Comments

Finally, do you have any other comments about Clay Cross?

22. We would like to keep you updated about the consultation process. This will be done through email and
will consist of a few communications over the next few months as the plans for Clay Cross are developed.
Your details will be kept securely by Nexus Planning and deleted within 2 months following the closure of the
consultation. If you would like to receive information, please tick here and provide your email below

Tick here

23. Email address

7Page 59



Clay Cross Towns Fund 

Public Consultation – Stage 1: Issues and Opportunities

Survey Form – We want your views!

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey!

8Page 60



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

 
 

Appendix B: Phase Two Questionnaire 

  

Page 61



Introduction

We want your views on the draft plans to transform Clay Cross for the better. This is Stage 2 of our public
consultation work. In late June/early July 2020 we sought the views of residents, local businesses and
stakeholders. These views have now been fed into preparing a draft Investment Plan. 

We are now seeking further feedback from the community on the future of the town as the bid for a share of
the government’ £3.6 billion Towns Fund is prepared. You can find more information on Clay Cross and the
Towns Fund and the results of the Stage 1 consultation at https://www.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/business-with-
us/clay-cross-town-investment-plan

Clay Cross Towns Fund 

Public Consultation – Stage 2: Draft Clay Cross Town Investment Plan

Survey Form – We want your views!

Please complete and submit the survey form by Friday 21st August 2020

Protecting Your Data

The information you provide on this form will only be processed for the purpose for which it has been given and will not
be used for additional purposes without your consent. This means the information you provide will not be used to identify
you personally, will be kept strictly confidential and will not be passed to any third parties.

For more details on data protection please go to the following link and view ‘Guide to the General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR)’: https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/

Nexus Planning's privacy policy can be found here https://www.nexusplanning.co.uk/privacy-policy

1. If you are happy to proceed with the survey on this basis, please select the Yes Box below:*

Yes - I am happy to proceed on this basis. I consent to Nexus Planning and North East Derbyshire Council retaining
and using my information for internal publication and external publication.

No (End of Survey)

1Page 62

https://www.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/business-with-us/clay-cross-town-investment-plan
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://www.nexusplanning.co.uk/privacy-policy


Clay Cross Towns Fund 

Public Consultation – Stage 2: Draft Clay Cross Town Investment Plan

Survey Form – We want your views!

Please complete and submit the survey form by Friday 21st August 2020

2. About you?

Which age category are you within? (select one only)

*

Under 16

16-24

25-44

45-64

65-79

Over 80

Prefer not to say

Other (please specify)

3. Please could you provide your postcode.

2Page 63



 Yes No

Do you live in Clay
Cross?

Do you work in Clay
Cross?

Do you attend school
in Clay Cross?

4. Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?*

5. Do you run your own business in Clay Cross?*

Yes

No

6. A VISION FOR CLAY CROSS 

Our draft Vision for a transformed Clay Cross is one of a thriving, industrious and sustainable market
town, built on a strong and vibrant community spirit and a unique heritage; forged around a renewed
heart that responds to the aspirations of a growing population and with a future founded on
enterprise, skills and learning, innovation and low carbon technology.

Do you broadly agree with the draft Vision for Clay Cross?

*

Yes

No

7. Could the draft Vision be improved? If so, how?

 Very important Important Somewhat important Not important

Market Street- a
market square and
new development to
enliven the town
centre

8. The draft masterplan has been prepared to include a number of potential development projects.
Please consider the consultation material before answering this question.

How important are the following proposed projects to you?

*

3Page 64



A new skills and
community hub
centred around the
existing Adult
Education Centre

A new town centre
mixed use area at
Bridge Street / Smithy
Avenue

A replacement leisure
centre and
improvements to
Sharley Park

Traffic management
and public realm
works in particular on
High Street, Market
Street and Eyre
Street

A creative enterprise
hub centred around
the former
constabulary building

Planning for a new
Railway Station in the
longer term

New homes on sites
in the urban area

Creating a low-carbon
energy network

New low-carbon
workspace at Coney
Green

Improved pedestrian
and cycle linkages

Improvements to
building frontage
especially on High
Street and Market
Street

 Very important Important Somewhat important Not important

4Page 65



A potential road link
between Market
Street and the Tesco
car park

 Very important Important Somewhat important Not important

9. Are there any other projects that should be included in the Plan?

10. Is there anything else that we should consider in developing the Plan?

11. Lots of work is required to develop the detail of the plans. However, overall, do you support the
emerging strategy to transform Clay Cross?

*

Yes

No

12. We would like to keep you updated about the consultation process. This will be done through
email and will consist of a few communications over the next few months as the plans for Clay Cross
are developed. Your details will be kept securely by Nexus Planning and deleted within 2 months
following the closure of the consultation. If you would like to receive information, please tick here and
provide your email below

Tick here

13. Email address

5Page 66



Clay Cross Towns Fund 

Public Consultation – Stage 2: Draft Clay Cross Town Investment Plan

Survey Form – We want your views!

Please complete and submit the survey form by Friday 21st August 2020

The plans are not fixed at this stage so we want your views on how the plans could be improved 

Please complete and submit this questionnaire by Friday 21st August 2020.

 We would like to take the opportunity to thank you for taking the time to complete this survey.

6Page 67



 
  
 
Clay Cross Town Investment Plan Consultation Report 

 
 

 

 
 

Appendix C: BDA Questionnaire  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 68



Introduction

Clay Cross has been selected as one of the 100 towns to take part in the Towns Fund process. The aim
of the Towns Fund is to promote the sustainable economic regeneration of towns to deliver long term
economic and productivity growth.  

As such we are now seeking further feedback from the community on the future of the town as the bid
for a share of the government’ £3.6 billion Towns Fund is finalised.

Please try to answer the following survey as things were prior to the COVID-19 restrictions being put
in place or as you expect them to be as the country moves back to a more normal way of life.

Clay Cross Towns Fund 
Public Consultation – We Want Your Views!

Protecting Your Data

The information you provide on this form will only be processed for the purpose for which it has been given and will not be used for
additional purposes without your consent. This means the information you provide will not be used to identify you personally, will be kept
strictly confidential and will not be passed to any third parties.

For more details on data protection please go to the following link and view ‘Guide to the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)’:
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/

Nexus Planning's privacy policy can be found here https://www.nexusplanning.co.uk/privacy-policy

1. If you are happy to proceed with the survey on this basis, please select the Yes Box below:*

Yes - I am happy to proceed on this basis. I consent to Nexus Planning and North East Derbyshire Council retaining and using my
information for internal publication and external publication.

No (End of Survey)

Page 69

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://www.nexusplanning.co.uk/privacy-policy


Clay Cross Towns Fund 
Public Consultation – We Want Your Views!

2. Which age category are you within? (select one only)

Under 16

16-24

25-44

45-64

65-79

Over 80

Prefer not to say

Other (please specify)

3. Please could you provide your postcode.

 Yes No

Do you live in Clay
Cross?

Do you work in Clay
Cross?

Do you attend school in
Clay Cross?

4. Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?

When travelling to work /
school or college

When visiting the town
centre

5. How do you usually travel? (by bicycle, private motor vehicle, bus, train, taxi, on foot, other, n/a)

Page 70



6. What do you like most about Clay Cross?

7. What is your top priority to improve Clay Cross?

8. How often do you visit the town centre?

Daily

More than once a week

Once a week

Once every 2-3 weeks

Monthly

Less often / not regularly

9. Why do you visit the town centre? (Answer ‘yes’ to all that apply)

To buy food and grocery items (not take-away etc)

To buy non-food goods (i.e shoes, clothes etc)

For personal services (e.g bank, hairdresser, solicitor etc)

Eat out / drinking

Work

To access community or heath facilities

To visit Sharley Leisure Centre

To visit Kenning Park

I live in the town centre

10. Are there any other reasons why you visit the town centre?

11. Do you feel that your employment prospects would benefit from additional skills-based training?

Yes

No

Page 71



12. Are you interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross?

Yes

No

13. Do you run you own business in Clay Cross? If no, proceed to Question 16.

Yes

No

14. If you run a business, what changes can be made to support and help develop your business?

15. Are you interested in renting business premises in Clay Cross?

Yes

No

16. A Vision for Clay Cross. Our draft Vision for a transformed Clay Cross is one of a thriving, industrious and
sustainable market town, built on a strong and vibrant community spirit and a unique heritage; forged around a
renewed heart that responds to the aspirations of a growing population and with a future founded on
enterprise, skills and learning, innovation and low carbon technology.

Do you broadly agree with the draft Vision for Clay Cross?

Yes

No

17. Could the draft vision be improved? If so, how?

 Very important Important Somewhat important Not important

Market Street- a market
square and new
development to enliven
the town centre

18. The draft masterplan has been prepared to include a number of potential development projects. Please
consider the consultation material before answering this question.

How important are the following proposed projects to you?

Page 72



A new skills and
community hub centred
around the existing Adult
Education Centre

A new town centre
mixed use area at
Bridge Street / Smithy
Avenue

A replacement leisure
centre and
improvements to Sharley
Park

Traffic management and
public realm works in
particular on High Street,
Market Street and Eyre
Street

A creative enterprise hub
centred around the
former constabulary
building

Planning for a new
Railway Station in the
longer term

New homes on sites in
the urban area

Creating a low-carbon
energy network

New low-carbon
workspace at Coney
Green

Improved pedestrian
and cycle linkages

Improvements to
building frontage
especially on High Street
and Market Street

A potential road link
between Market Street
and the Tesco car park

 Very important Important Somewhat important Not important

19. Are there any other projects that should be included in the Plan?

Page 73



20. Is there anything else that we should consider in developing the Plan?

21. Lots of work is required to develop the detail of the plans. However, overall, do you support the emerging
strategy to transform Clay Cross?

Yes

No

Page 74



Clay Cross Towns Fund 
Public Consultation – We Want Your Views!

We would like to take the opportunity to thank you for taking the time to complete this survey.

Page 75



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Nexus Planning 
Manchester 
 
Eastgate 
2 Castle Street 
Castlefield 
Manchester 
M3 4LZ 
 
T: 0161 819 6570 
nexusplanning.co.uk 

Page 76

https://www.nexusplanning.co.uk/


 

  
 
 
 
 
 

North East Derbyshire Council 
 
 

Clay Cross Town 
Investment Plan 
 
Working Draft Report 
 
Version 1 - 8th September 2020  

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 5



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

 

Contents 

 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Background ................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 The Clay Cross Town Deal Area ..................................................................................................... 2 

2 Contextual analysis ......................................................................................................... 6 

2.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 6 

2.2 The main challenges facing the town ........................................................................................... 6 

2.3 Evidence of need, relevant to proposed projects ......................................................................... 8 

2.4 The Town’s assets and strengths (needs talking up) .................................................................. 16 

2.5 Key opportunities for the town (to be completed)..................................................................... 17 

3 Strategy ........................................................................................................................ 18 

3.1 Town Vision and Headline Outcomes ......................................................................................... 18 

3.2 Objectives.................................................................................................................................... 19 

3.3 Strategic alignment ..................................................................................................................... 20 

3.4 Prioritising projects for Towns Fund support ............................................................................. 25 

4 Engagement and delivery .............................................................................................. 32 

4.1 Stakeholder Engagement ............................................................................................................ 32 

4.2 Private sector investment ........................................................................................................... 34 

4.3 Business case development and appraisal ................................................................................. 35 

4.4 Delivery plan ............................................................................................................................... 37 

 
 
   

Appendix A - Title of Appendix 

 
A. Socio-economic context/Baseline Report - Nexus  

B. Property Market Assessment Report  – Thomas Lister   

C. Spatial Strategy – Buttress  

D. Transport and Energy Report - Ramboll  

E. Strategic context alignment – Nexus Planning  

F. Stakeholder engagement reports – Phase 1 and 2    

 

Page 78



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

1 
 

1 Introduction  

1.1 Background  

Clay Cross is a small former industrial and mining Town with a distinct sense of identity and rich 
industrial heritage.  The Town thrived in the 19th century following the discovery of both coal 
and iron, while driving the tunnel for the North Midland Railway, and the establishment of the 
George Stephenson and Co business. The growth of the railways in 1840 led to the creation of 
the Clay Cross Company, by the Liverpool branch of Stephenson engineers, which remained the 
Towns major employer for well over 150 years, undertaking iron working and brick making.  
Following a series of takeovers from 1985, initially by Biwater and then French company Saint-
Gobain, the company closed in 2000 with the loss of around 750 jobs.  Since the site was 
demolished in 2008, there has been growth in new housing and some redevelopment of the 
Town Centre, and the area has been designated as a key social and economic focus within the 
south of the North East Derbyshire district.      

The Town Deal and Towns Fund provide the area with the opportunity to transform the Town 
Centre and unlock its potential as a focus for community pride, investment, enterprise, living 
and learning.  The Board’s Vision …. 

“ for a transformed Clay Cross is one of a thriving and industrious market town, built on 
a strong and vibrant community spirit and a unique heritage, forged around a renewed 
heart that responds to the aspirations of a growing population with a future founded 
on enterprise, skills and learning, innovation, low carbon technology and 
sustainability.” 

In order to achieve this vision, a strategy has been developed for the Town which seeks to 
address the key challenges and exploit potential opportunities.  The Town Investment Plan is 
focused on  five themes – Town Centre Regeneration; Connectivity; Skills and Enterprise; 
Health, Wellbeing and Leisure; and Clean Growth.  A number of projects have been developed, 
that will be submitted for Towns Fund, to stimulate growth across the area: 

 Market Street/Bridge Street – mixed-use redevelopment for commercial, retail, leisure 
and residential purposes including a town square events space;  

 Clay Cross Creative – conversion and refurbishment of buildings on Market Street to 
create artist and creative workspace, including spaces for meetings, offices, a gallery, café, 
box park/artisan workshed and garden;  

 Bridge Street/Smithy Street – redevelopment of land at Bridge Street to create a new 
mixed-use leisure and residential area and relocation of bus station to improve linkages 
between heart of the town centre and adjacent retail areas;  

 Clay Cross Training, Learning and Enterprise Hub – this will comprise new and refurbished 
space for skills, training and enterprise – providing a hub for key employers in the area 
(e.g. Worcester Bosch);  SMEs and a learning resource for local residents;    

Page 79



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

2 
 

 Street Public Realm and Traffic Management – works on High Street, Market Street and 
Eyre Street to reduce adverse impacts of traffic on quality of the street environment; 

 Sharley Park and Sharley Park Leisure Centre – replacement of existing leisure centre 
incorporating an energy demonstrator project as well as creation of new Sharley Park 
facilities; 

 Rail Station – this project will explore the feasibility of establishing a new rail station;  

 Low Carbon Industrial Workspace – delivery of new, high quality, smaller scale industrial 
space for lease; and  

 District Heating Pilot – project to confirm feasibility of a District Heating network. 

1.2 The Clay Cross Town Deal Area  

Clay Cross is situated in North East Derbyshire about 5 miles south of Chesterfield on the A61 
and approximately 5 miles to the east of the Peak District, as shown in Figure 1.1 below.  The 
Town Deal Area comprises the two wards of Clay Cross North and Clay Cross South1 set out in 
Figure 1.2.    

Figure 1.1: Clay Cross Location Map [Revised map needed] 

                                                           
1 The two wards comprise the middle super output area ‘North East Derbyshire 012’ 

Page 80



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

3 
 

 

Figure 1.2: Clay Cross Town Deal Boundary  

Page 81



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

4 
 

  

 

 

[Figure X: Key features plan – being prepared] 

Page 82



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

5 
 

The Town is home to approximately 8,200 residents, of which 18% are young people, 61% are 
working age residents (aged 16-64) and approximately a fifth are older people aged 65+.  The 
area has just under 450 businesses across the two Clay Cross wards which provide over 4,200 
job opportunities largely within the retail, manufacturing, health and accommodation and food 
industries.  

  

   

 

Page 83



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

6 
 

2 Contextual analysis 

2.1 Introduction   

The following sections describe the main challenges facing the town, the evidence of need, a 
summary of the area’s key assets and strengths and opportunities for development. The 
information has been drawn from a review of the property market; socio-economic data; 
feedback from the stakeholder consultation process; and responses from the online survey of 
residents, businesses and community groups within the area.  

2.2 The main challenges facing the town 

2.2.1 Lack of a Vibrant Town Centre  

Clay Cross and the wider area has been identified for significant housing growth in the emerging 
Local Plan, albeit the majority of this growth will be on the periphery of the Town.  While this 
housing growth provides an opportunity to stimulate growth within the local economy, 
retaining this spending and activity in the town also presents a challenge – particularly in terms 
of delivering a range of high quality services and facilities that will ensure that new and existing 
residents look to Clay Cross to meet their needs, rather than locations outside the area.  

Clay Cross has, in recent years, performed reasonably well as retail centre relative to its size and 
location, however the Town Centre is dominated by Tesco (and Aldi to a lesser extent) and the 
overwhelming majority of shoppers travel to Clay Cross by car. Furthermore, the dominance of 
these edge of centre retail premises, detract from the vibrancy of the Town Centre. Although 
previous regeneration frameworks for Clay Cross have promoted the regeneration of the Town, 
a number of key objectives aimed at improving the Town Centre remain – including the creation 
of a central space; improved traffic circulation on Eyre Street and Market Street; and the 
delivery of the ‘Esplanade’ and link between Market Street and the Tesco development.   

In respect of whether anything else should be considered in developing the Plan, respondents to 
the consultation suggested that improvements to the frontages on the High Street and Market 
Street were one of the three most important projects and further consideration should be given 
to re-instating a market in Clay Cross.  

2.2.2 Image and perceptions  

Despite the area’s rich industrial heritage, strong sense of identity, attractive setting and 
proximity to the Peak District, the area lacks profile and the poor appearance in parts of the 
Town resulting from vacant and under-used sites; an oversupply of lower quality retail and 
takeaway food stores; lack of cultural and entertainment assets; a dispersed town centre; and 
instances of poor housing, are having a detrimental impact on the overall image and perception 
of the Town.   

Page 84



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

7 
 

The limited awareness and positive property market sentiment are also having an impact on the 
attraction of investment and businesses to the area, which has in turn put the Town Centre 
Conservation Area at risk.  This needs to be addressed as a matter of priority if the area is to 
retain its status and become a thriving, industrious market town again.   

2.2.3 Poor connectivity  

While Clay Cross enjoys a strategic location on the A61, close to the M1 corridor, the area 
currently has no rail connectivity, following the Beeching cuts in 1967,  and there are poor 
public transport linkages to the wider region.   

Within the Town itself, the town centre is dispersed with a lack of connectivity between the key 
locations and assets.  The road layout and traffic circulation draw cars into the heart of the 
Town Centre which reduces the quality of the pedestrian environment.  Cycle routes are also 
currently limited which is in turn impacting the promotion and uptake of sustainable travel 
options for residents and workers within the Town.    

The long term objective of delivering a train station to the town is referenced in the emerging 
Local Plan and strategy for Clay Cross and it is hoped that the delivery of HS2 will further 
influence the scope for additional local rail service provision in the area.  

With regard to the public consultation undertaken, in terms of additional projects that 
respondents thought should be included in the Plan, common responses included the need to 
further consider vehicular movement through Clay Cross, and the need for better cycle routes 
throughout the Town. Traffic management was rated the second most important project, after 
a replacement leisure centre. 

2.2.4 Jobs, skills and education  

At present, the industrial structure of Clay Cross is comprised of businesses within 
manufacturing, health, accommodation and food services, motor trades and retail.  While the 
area has a relatively high job density in line with the national average (e.g. 0.85 jobs for every 
working age person), productivity is lower and there are a higher number of jobs in lower value 
added sectors.    

Furthermore, the area does have a higher proportion of residents who are outside the labour 
market, compared with the average for the North Derbyshire, the region and national 
comparators; pockets of deprivation (specifically related to employment and education) and 
poor social mobility within the Town; and lower levels of educational attainment all of which 
impact on the supply of labour, the competitiveness of the business base and the Town’s ability 
to attract new businesses and investment to the area.  The area also has a relatively low level of 
entrepreneurship and business start-ups.   

As there are significant employment land allocations in Clay Cross, at Coney Green and Biwater, 
consideration will need to be given to how these can be brought forward, and how local 
residents can be sustainably linked to the opportunities that they provide. 

2.2.5 Leisure and health    

Page 85



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

8 
 

Clay Cross currently has a number of heritage assets however, as a whole the Town Centre 
Conservation Area is considered at heritage risk. Similarly, there are lots of green spaces in the 
Town but the Local Plan evidence report suggests there is an under provision in children’s play 
and youth facilities.  In addition, Sharley Park Leisure Centre, an important community asset 
within the Town is currently out-moded and costly to run.   

Alongside the deficit of cultural and entertainment assets, the area also has higher than average 
instances of poor health (including for example a higher proportion of residents with long term 
limiting illnesses, and higher percentage of people with obesity in the area), affecting residents’ 
quality of life.  

While two thirds of all survey respondents indicated that the most important project for Clay 
Cross was a replacement leisure centre and improvements to Sharley Park, the provision of 
activities for older children and teenagers, and improved leisure facilities and local parks were 
recurrent themes raised throughout, alongside the need for additional tree planting and green 
spaces.  When asked about the proposed vision for the Town Investment Plan, 91% were 
broadly in agreement with the draft proposed, with references to quality of life and health and 
well-being deemed the biggest omissions.  

2.3 Evidence of need, relevant to proposed projects  

2.3.1 Property Market  

The following details of the property market, highlighted by Thomas Lister in their report for the 
area (see Appendix x), provides evidence to support the need for a revitalized Town Centre with 
a market offering, office accommodation for potential start-ups, and a new leisure centre offer 
to improve the quality of life for residents living in the area.     

(i) Retail 

Along Market Street and the High Street in Clay Cross, the location for some of the proposed TIP 
projects, the market assessment highlighted that the retail units are predominantly occupied by 
small, independent local businesses, with the units having a small floorspace as well as poor 
access and parking. It is suggested that improvements could be made to this retail floorspace 
provision by re-developing and combining the traditional units. However, given that many Clay 
Cross residents travel to neighbouring town Chesterfield to access national retailers, overall it is 
suggested that it would be unlikely for a large-scale retail development to come forward 
imminently in Clay Cross. 

Although the location of Tesco, Aldi and Iceland within Clay Cross mean that the food retail 
market is relatively well served, it has been noted that there is no market offering within Clay 
Cross. In terms of vacancy rates, research has identified that there are only two units currently 
available for let/sale.  This figure is likely to be higher now, as not all vacant units are currently 
being actively marketed and COVID 19 is likely to have impacted the high street. 

Page 86



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

9 
 

(ii) Office 

Despite there being purpose built and modern office accommodation to the east of Clay Cross 
town centre, the office market within Clay Cross is considered to be limited. A total of 1,271 sq. 
ft is available to let within the current output of town business park settings. Furthermore, 
although there are proposals for the delivery of office space as part of the Egstow Park 
Development near Clay Cross, it is suggested that is unlikely that a developer would proceed 
with a speculative office scheme in Clay Cross. Nonetheless, it has been recognised that there is 
no flexible office workspace aimed at SMEs and local individuals in Clay Cross, which represents 
a gap in the market and rationale for the potential development of an enterprise centre.  

Importantly, the lack of a train station in Clay Cross and its inferior transport system means that 
office locations are preferable in neighbouring towns such as Chesterfield (despite this office 
market also being limited). 

(iii) Industrial 

Related to the strong presence of manufacturing within the area, the industrial market in Clay 
Cross is focused around Coney Green, and it is generally suggested that the industrial market is 
well catered for.  Despite large scale industrial development perhaps not being required for Clay 
Cross, there is potential demand for small, high quality units, although viability issues associated 
with short term flexible leases mean this type of development has not come forward to date. 

(iv) Leisure, Food and Beverage 

There are many fast food and takeaway outlets in Clay Cross at the expense of more traditional 
restaurants and bars. Nonetheless, there is considered to be demand for more traditional 
restaurants and bars in Clay Cross, with the potential for local and regional operators to 
establish these types of businesses. 

Meanwhile, the leisure market in Clay Cross is limited, with no private gyms or leisure centres as 
well as activities such as a cinema or bowling alley. The property market review specifically 
highlights that the Sharley Park Leisure Centre is outdated. Given the housing development 
which has taken place already in Clay Cross, it is anticipated that there would be sufficient 
demand for a new leisure centre. 

(v) Residential  

As previously mentioned, there has been recent housing growth in Clay Cross. Despite this, it is 
suggested that more starter homes and good quality rental apartments could be delivered in 
Clay Cross, which would be more affordable than larger 3 and 4 bed family houses which have 
been the focus of these other previous developments. 

2.3.2 Connectivity 

Traffic management and public realm works on the High Street, Market Street and Eyre Street 
was highlighted as the second most important potential project in the second phase 
consultation survey, with over 60% of respondents highlighting it as very important.  In terms of 
other projects that should be considered, the following three responses were among the most 
commonly mentioned: 

Page 87



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

10 
 

 the need to further consider vehicular movement through Clay Cross;   

 provision of better cycle links throughout the Town; and  

 improving the Town’s accessibility – possibly through the delivery of the train station. 

The A61 is identified as a cause of severance within the town, with high levels of through traffic 
including HGVs. This has significant implications in terms of local environmental conditions and 
quality of life for residents along this corridor. 

In addition to this, the review of local infrastructure provision and consultations highlighted 
other significant challenges: 

 poor linkages between the town centre and other parts of the town; 

 abundance of surface car parking within the town centre, promoting car use for local 
journeys; 

 lack of rail infrastructure and services; and 

 slow bus speeds and poor bus service reliability, air pollution and a lack of cycle routes. 

While there are local challenges in relation to transport infrastructure, the town benefits from 
extensive access  to superfast broadband, with evidence the full fibre is now being rolled out. 

Figure 2.1: Digital Connectivity  

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

NE Derbyshire East Midlands UK

Broadband

Superfast Ultrafast Full Fibre

 
Source: Think Broadband 

2.3.3 Low wage, low value-added jobs  

There are currently approximately 4,200 jobs within the Clay Cross area, with a higher 
proportion of jobs in – manufacturing, health, accommodation and food services, and motor 
trades – compared with North East Derbyshire, and the regional and national averages.  
Manufacturing and Health account for almost 50% of all employment in Clay Cross as shown in 
Figure 2.1 below.    

Page 88



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

11 
 

 

Figure 2.1: Employment by sector 

 
Source: Business and Employment Register, BRES 2018 

Worcester Bosch is a major employer in the area contributing to the concentration of 
manufacturing jobs, however whiles there is projected growth in GVA over the longer term for 
transport equipment, machinery and equipment (for NE Derbyshire as a whole), there is a 
forecast decline in employment of 13.5% (Experian Projections, pre-COVID). 

Furthermore, it is envisaged that there will be adverse short-term impacts expected in the 
manufacturing sector as a result of the pandemic, resulting from workplace health and safety 
and social distancing, coupled with medium to longer term impacts of Brexit also likely within 
the industry and environmental changes. 

The industries referenced for Clay Cross are also characterized by lower wages and low value-
added jobs, which in turn have an impact on average productivity and GVA within the local 
economy.  While productivity figures are not available for the local level, the average for NE 
Derbyshire is £43,825, which compares with £47,958 and £56,387 for the East Midlands and 
national comparators respectively.  

As shown in Figure 2.2 below, there is also a much lower proportion of residents in professional 
roles (9.4% vs 21.3%), associate and technical (8.6% v 14.5%) and managerial (7.6% v 11.3%); 
and a correspondingly higher proportion of residents in lower value added jobs – e.g. 
elementary occupations, plant and machine operatives, and sales. 
 
Figure 2.2: Residents employed by occupation - North East Derbyshire compared with the UK  

Page 89



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

12 
 

 
Source: Annual Population Survey (APS) 2019 

Analysis of the most recent UK business counts also demonstrate low business density within 
Clay Cross, with 311 businesses per 10,000 of the population – below the district level of 324, 
regional level of 372 and the national figure of 401.  As shown in Figure 2.3 below, business 
density in the NE Derbyshire district has been consistently lower than the regional and UK levels 
and the gap between the region and the UK has been widening.  Analysis of the business 
demography data shows a decline in business births, with 320 businesses created in NE 
Derbyshire in 2018 down 19.0% since 2015. 

Figure 2.3: Business Density – North East Derbyshire compared with the UK 

290

310

330

350

370

390

410

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Business Density

NE Derbyshire East Midlands United Kingdom

 
Source:ONS, UK Business Counts  

Local level business data, from the MINT database demonstrates there are approximately 500 
businesses across the two Clay Cross wards, 37% of which are self-employed in construction, 
mechanics, retail and professional services.  More broadly, businesses are concentrated in - 
wholesale and retail; construction; accommodation and food services; professional, scientific 
and technical; and health sectors.  

Further enterprise and entrepreneurship is required to underpin the development of a more 
dynamic and resilient business base and drive innovation within the area. 

Page 90



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

13 
 

2.3.4 Skills and economic activity   

In July 2020 Clay Cross had an unemployment count of 7.9% with approximately 335 people 
claiming JSA and Universal Credit.  This was higher than all comparators as shown in Figure 2.4 
below.  The graph also shows that unemployment in the area has been consistently higher than 
all comparators for the last 7 years.  

Figure 2.4: Claimant Count Unemployment Rate Trends  
 

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Claimant Count Rates (% working age population)

Clay Cross NE Derbyshire D2N2 GB

 
Source: NOMIS Claimant Count Data  

Alongside the higher number of workless residents, there is also a higher level of young people 
not currently in employment, education or training (NEETs) which stood at 7.1% in June 2020, 
and educational attainment at Tupton Hall High School is also lagging behind national 
comparators.  In 2019 56% achieved A-C in English and Maths compared with 65% nationally 
and the attainment 8 score was lower at 42.6% compared with 46.7%. 

While data for skills is not currently available below the district level, indications suggest that 
there is a lower proportion of residents with higher skilled qualifications, and the employer skills 
survey for Derbyshire demonstrates a higher percentage of employers with a skills gap than 
England or the East Midlands, with higher than average skills gaps for hotels and restaurants, 
education and manufacturing.   

Based on the industrial structure for Clay Cross and sectors demonstrating vulnerability as a 
result of COVID 19 (Manufacturing, retail, personal and food services) it is likely that there will 
be increased demand for reskilling and upskilling within the area, in addition to the ongoing 
need for digital skills acquisition, already identified as a gap within the current provision and 
infrastructure.  

Page 91



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

14 
 

 

Figure 2.5: Qualifications levels and skills gaps for the region   

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

% with NVQ4+% with NVQ3+% with NVQ2+% with NVQ1+ % with other
qualifications

% with no
qualifications

Qualifications (2019)

North East Derbyshire East Midlands United Kingdom

 
Source: Annual Population Survey  

 
Source: Employer Skills Survey  

2.3.5 Health and quality of life   

A closer look at some of the area’s quality of life indicators also indicate areas in need of 
improvement, particularly with regard to social mobility, pockets of deprivation and health: 

 North East Derbyshire has been identified as a social mobility ‘cold spot’ as it is ranked 268 
out of 324 local authorities, where 1=best performing local authority within England;     

 while overall deprivation for North East Derbyshire is mid-ranking (177/324, average of 
the ranks for all domains) this masks polarisation and pockets of deprivation in areas such 
as Clay Cross, Holmewood and Heath, and Grassmoor, as shown in Figure 2.6 below.  In 
Clay Cross three or the four LSOAs are in the worst 20% most deprived nationally in 
relation to the Employment and Education;  

Figure 2.6: Overall levels of multiple deprivation within Clay Cross  

Page 92



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

15 
 

 

 the area has a high percentage of residents with long term limiting health conditions and 
high levels of obesity – just under a quarter (22.3%) of all working age population have a 
long-term health problem or disability compared with 13.1% nationally; and the levels of 
obesity are currently higher than the national average, for example:  

 among children in Reception in Clay Cross, 14.3% are obese and overall 27.9% have 
excess weight (the national average is 8.8% and 21.8%) and for children in Year 6,  
22.8% are obese and overall 39.7% have excess weight (the national average is 
17.0% and 31.2%); and  

 while adult data is not available for Clay Cross specifically, in North East Derbyshire 
66.4% of adults are overweight or obese; higher than the Derbyshire average of 
63.8% and the England average of 61.3%; and   

 in contrast to England and the East Midlands, levels of walking and cycling have declined 
over the last three years at the District Level with the exception of those 
participating on a regular basis of five times per week.  

Page 93



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

16 
 

Proportion of adults who do any walking1 or cycling2, for any purpose, by frequency

At least: Once per month Once per week Three times p.w. Five times p.w.

2017-18 2015-16 2017-18 2015-16 2017-18 2015-16 2017-18 2015-16

England
79.7 79.0 71.7 70.5 47.2 45.7 35.6 34.2

East Midlands
78.0 78.1 69.7 69.5 44.1 43.7 32.8 31.9

North East 
Derbyshire 76.9 81.3 66.5 71.1 38.7 40.5 26.2 24.8

  

Education, skills and training are recognized as key part of the solution to raising aspirations 
among the workforce and investment in leisure facilities and walking and cycling infrastructure 
are key to improving the health of the local community, including young people.  

2.4 The Town’s assets and strengths 

Notwithstanding the issues identified in the preceding section, Clay Cross has many assets and 
strengths which could be exploited further to promote inclusive growth and enhanced 
productivity within the local economy.  These include:     

 Heritage and landscape - clusters of heritage assets with significant potential and 
attractive greenspaces – Clay Cross Tunnel and George Stephenson connection; Kenning 
Park and Sharley Park, and the Town Centre Conservation area; 

 A strong manufacturing base – with key employers including Worcester Bosch and Global 
Brands that remain committed to the local area; an established industrial market and 
reasonable supply of premises with land available for development;  

 Business composition - existing and vibrant base of small business activity; and existing 
skills assets within the town centre; 

 Recent private sector investment – for example the Town has, and is currently benefitting 
from significant investment at Egstow Park’ with active developers in the market;  

 Community support – for the emerging strategy, designation as a focus for social and 
economic growth in the District and committed entrepreneurs and community groups; 

 Accessibility - substantial passing traffic and the opportunity to attract local expenditure.  
Clay Cross benefits from an accessible location with good road connections to key 
employment and service centres within a wider catchment area and a reasonable bus 
service providing public transport link to adjacent centres for work and training 
opportunities;  

 Digital connectivity – 4G 

Page 94



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

17 
 

 Rural Hinterland – Clay Cross is an attractive Town, benefitting from a number of green 
spaces and good access/proximity to the Peak District.  

2.5 Key opportunities for the town  

The opportunities for the town stem from both current challenges and a number of strong 
regeneration themes.  The quality of the town centre has been identified in public consultation 
and baseline research as a significant constraint on the town and its investment offer. The town 
has certainly suffered from the impacts of a changing retail and leisure market, including out of 
town and edge of centre development in retail and other sectors.  However, it has also, to-date, 
never fully addressed the industrial legacy that certainly dominated the town centre and its 
immediate until the retail-led development to brought about significant, but not comprehensive 
or integrated change.  These and other factors have led to a somewhat dispersed, low density 
town centre with significant areas of underused land, allied to a limited number of ownerships, 
including land held by the public sector.  These areas provide a significant opportunity to 
accommodate transformational and deliverable change in the town centre, creating and 
reinforcing character and viability, including, importantly, a market place.  Being a small town 
there is real scope for the town centre and other assets to be accessibly for all sections of the 
community through active travel.  

More broadly opportunities stem for the energy tradition of the town and the presence of the 
leading energy business, Worcester Bosch.  The town’s location on the strategic A61 offers the 
potential of enhanced profile.  The significant growth of the town, and indeed the wider area, 
through housing development provides the opportunity to attract new visitors and businesses. 
The edge of Peak District location and the substantial local parks provide an opportunity to 
develop a strong lifestyle and active leisure dimension to the town, whilst the industrial legacy, 
the connection with George Stephenson and the Clay Cross Tunnel provide the opportunity to 
celebrate and rediscover Clay Cross’s traditional of enterprise, industry and innovation.  The 
industrial base of Clay Cross and the relative affordability of accommodation and a growing 
number of small and micro businesses across a number of sectors, provide the opportunity to 
develop a strong enterprise and skills culture.  A number of underused heritage buildings and 
the commitment of a number of arts and community groups as well as local entrepreneurs 
provide the opportunity to add a new dimension of arts and creative-making to the town.  The 
adjacency of rail infrastructure to the town and the upcoming HS2 programme provides an 
impetus to re-instate a Clay Cross station 

 

Page 95



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

18 
 

3 Strategy 

3.1 Town Vision and Headline Outcomes 

3.1.1 Vision  

The Clay Cross Town Deal Board was established in March 2020 with partners drawn from key 
stakeholders in business, local government and the wider public sector. They have a developed 
a vision for the area, which is supported by community and stakeholder agencies, as described 
below: 

“Our Vision for a transformed Clay Cross is one of a thriving, sustainable and 
industrious market town, built on a strong and vibrant community spirit and a unique 
heritage, forged around a renewed heart that responds to the aspirations of a growing 
population and with a future founded on enterprise, skills and learning, innovation and 
low carbon technology.” 

The Vision will be delivered through actions that will focus on five key themes: 

 Town Centre Regeneration – create a new heart to the town built around the needs of the 
local community, extending and sustaining the offer to support a vibrant range of retail, 
leisure and community services, within an environment that promotes civic pride;  

 Improving connectivity – enhancing connections within the town, establishing the centre 
as a hub with high quality, sustainable linkages to neighbourhoods, workplaces and open 
spaces. Measures to improve connectivity will promote more sustainable travel options 
for residents and businesses, while mitigating the negative impacts of strategic 
infrastructure on residents of the town;  

 Skills and Enterprise – delivering facilities in the heart of the town as a focus for key 
partners, promoting joined-up services that respond to the needs of residents and the 
business community, creating clear pathways to opportunity within priority sectors 
including clean growth and digital;  

 Health, Wellbeing and Leisure – supporting lifestyles that are balanced and healthy 
through measures that contribute to improved physical and mental health, providing 
access to high quality and inclusive facilities, while enabling communities to make use of 
an accessible and welcoming public realm environment;  

 Clean Growth – ensuring that investment proactively prioritises clean growth through 
embracing green technologies, recognising opportunities for sustainable energy 
generation and distribution..  

3.1.2 Headline outcomes for 2030 

To measure success and the extent to which the Board has achieved its vision, a series of high 
level outcome targets have been set for 2030.  These targets will be achieved through action 

Page 96



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

19 
 

delivered by all partners in the area and projects which include those in receipt of Towns Fund, 
as well as other interventions underway that are supported by Government and the Private 
Sector, for example future phases of the Egstow Park Development.   

By 2030 the Town Deal Board will seek to: 

 Enhance the sustainability and diversity of services within the town centre, mitigating the 
impact of COVID-19 to promote greater levels of activity, spend and occupancy;  

 Promote local economic growth through the creation of [xxx] new jobs, including within 
higher value sectors aligned to strategic objectives within the Local Industrial Strategy; 

 Support business growth, providing a focal point for streamlined services that enables 
indigenous firms to grow to their potential, increasing the density and size of businesses 
to the national average; 

 Demonstrate significant reductions in the overall levels of emissions arising from homes, 
industry and transport through ensuring that clean growth principles underpin 
investment;  

 Raise local aspirations, providing clear pathways that enable residents and businesses to 
gain the skills needed within the modern workplace, resulting in increased rates of 
employment and a reduction in the proportion of residents with no qualifications;  

 Improve health and wellbeing outcomes for local residents through promotion of high 
quality housing options, lifestyle changes, access to support services and greater economic 
opportunity;  

 Support enhanced civic pride and community engagement, reflected in enhanced levels of 
resident satisfaction and raised aspirations across the community; 

 Promote increased rates of cycling and walking for local journeys through the delivery of 
high quality infrastructure, supporting reductions in emissions, air pollution and localised 
congestion. 

3.2 Objectives  

The following objectives will guide progress towards delivering the vision for Clay Cross and are 
presented within the context of the themes highlighted above: 

(i) Town Centre Regeneration  

To transform the town centre and unlock its potential as a focus for community pride, 
investment, enterprise, living and learning. 

To radically enhance the character and environment of the town bringing forward new 
opportunities for housing, new business space, transport infrastructure and enhanced 
community facilities linking key assets together and creating new opportunities for enterprise, 
creativity, sport and health and well-being. 

Page 97



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

20 
 

(ii) Connectivity 

To fundamentally shift the transport choices for both residents and businesses toward 
sustainable, active and low carbon options, both locally and in the sub-region.  

To establish walking and cycling as the principal transport choice for local trips, through creating 
a comprehensive and connected network of pedestrian and cycle links as part of a green 
infrastructure and public realm strategy  

(iii) Skills and Enterprise 

To place skills and enterprise at heart of the Town’s transformation, working with established 
local businesses and education partners, to provide training, learning and employment support 
opportunities for our young people, our workforce and our small business community with a 
focus on clean energy,  digital and industrial skills and the health and social care sectors.   

(iv) Health, well-being and leisure 

To promote health and wellbeing for residents through providing enhanced access to a range of 
high quality opportunities for leisure and recreation at the heart of the town, responding to the 
needs of target groups. To embed active and healthy lifestyles as a central feature of a 
rejuvenated and vibrant town centre. 

(v) Clean Growth 

To establish the town at the forefront of the low carbon revolution, working with established 
local businesses, to deliver innovation in clean energy through development, innovation and 
training.  

 

3.3 Strategic alignment 

The Town Investment Plan will support the delivery of priorities set out in the Regeneration 
Framework for Clay Cross and is aligned with the policy objectives set out in North East 
Derbyshire’s Local Plan (2014-2034).  By raising aspirations, the profile, connectivity and 
functioning of the area, it is envisaged that new businesses and jobs will be created within Clay 
Cross, raising the productivity of the area.  The Plan will therefore support the delivery of key 
objectives within the D2N2 Local Industrial Strategy and contribute towards the Government’s 
plan to get the economy moving again.  The plan contains specific proposals that will enable 
Clay Cross to pursue low carbon opportunities and assist the Government to meet net zero 
targets by 2050.     

Table 3.1: Contribution to local and national strategic priorities  

Policy/Strategy Strategic fit 

National 

National Climate 
Change Act (2008, 
amended in 2019) 

The low carbon opportunities which are to be pursued as part of the Clay 
Cross TIP, for example through the low carbon industrial workspace project, 
will help to achieve the UK Government’s ambition to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions to at least net zero by 2050. 

Page 98



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

21 
 

Table 3.1: Contribution to local and national strategic priorities  

Policy/Strategy Strategic fit 

Sub-Regional 

The Midlands 
Engine 

The challenges which have been identified within Clay Cross as part of the 
development of the TIP overlap with the common challenges for the Midlands 
Region identified by the Midlands Engine Economic Observatory – these are 
skills, infrastructure, access to growth finance, and barriers to R&D 
collaboration, commercialisation and knowledge diffusion/technology 
adoption. 

The rail feasibility and traffic management projects within the TIP support the 
Midlands Connect Initiative and the investment in transport for growth 

The TIP will facilitate employment space for businesses and therefore 
contribute towards the Midlands Engine’s ambition to accelerate innovation 
and enterprise. 

Sheffield City Region 
Strategic Economic 
Plan 2015-2025 

The A61 corridor, including Clay Cross, has been identified as a long term 
spatial area of growth and change with the Sheffield City Region Combined 
Authority, where a significant proportion of growth is expected to occur as a 
result of mixed-use development and regeneration.  

D2N2: Vision 2030 

By addressing key challenges in Clay Cross such as high unemployment and 
low wages, the TIP projects will help to achieve wider objectives for 
Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire set out in D2N2’s Strategic Economic Plan – 
these include increasing wages and narrowing inequality, maintaining a high 
and stable employment rate, and eliminating gaps in workforce qualifications 
between D2N2 and the rest of the UK. 

Projects such as the development of the Clay Cross Training, Learning and 
Enterprise Hub will support the core theme of delivering skills and knowledge 
for the future in the D2N2 region 

D2N2: Local 
Industrial Strategy 

The suite of Clay Cross TIP projects are aligned with the three guiding 
principles which are central to the emerging D2N2 LIS – these principles are 
Upskilling for Productivity, Clean Growth, and Connectivity and Inclusion 

Derbyshire 
Environment and 
Climate Change 
Framework 

The focus on delivering low carbon outcomes within the Clay Cross TIP will 
help to ensure that greenhouse gas emissions across Derbyshire are 
maintained within this area’s allocated carbon budget, as well as contributing 
toward the achievement of net zero carbon emissions by 2050. 

Local 

North East 
Derbyshire Local 
Plan 2014-2034 

The TIP will help to meet the housing and employment needs set out within 
the Local Plan, where Clay Cross is identified within the Plan’s spatial strategy 
as a Level 1 settlement (the most sustainable location for new development) 
for the delivery of 995 new homes over the plan period. 

The redevelopment of land within the Town Centre, the refurbishment of 
Sharley Park Leisure Centre and the promotion of public transport within Clay 
Cross, which will all be facilitated by the TIP projects, are supported by the 
Council in the Local Plan. 

Infrastructure Study Projects such as the feasibility study for a rail station in Clay Cross will 

Page 99



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

22 
 

Table 3.1: Contribution to local and national strategic priorities  

Policy/Strategy Strategic fit 

and Delivery Plan 
(September 2017)  

contribute towards delivery of the future infrastructure schemes identified 
within the Infrastructure Study and Delivery Plan. 

Derbyshire County 
Council’s Local 
Transport Plan 
Three (April 2011) 

The TIP will support a key priority to have a considered approach to new 
infrastructure, where Clay Cross rail station is identified as a long-term 
project which has the potential for appraisal as a County Council sponsored 
scheme. 

Clay Cross 
Regeneration 
Framework (first 
published 2009, 
updated 2013) 

The TIP projects will help to support overarching themes for regeneration 
including ‘Quality Clay Cross’ and ‘Healthy Landscapes’ 

There is overlap between the action areas set out within the refreshed Clay 
Cross Regeneration Framework (2013) - namely the town centre, the high 
street, Bridge Street triangle and Coney Green – and the location of the TIP 
projects. 

The TIP complements the Action Plan which has supplemented the 
Regeneration Framework. The Action Plan has identified specific project 
priorities which also feature within the TIP, such as: the revision of the bus 
station; provision of a market square; arts/cultural facilities; quality office 
space; improvements to public realm and shop frontage; and the 
development of additional leisure facilities at Sharley Park. 

Derbyshire Climate 
and Carbon 
Reduction 
Manifesto 

The TIP, by promoting energy efficiency and stimulating business 
opportunities and job creation in the low carbon sector, will help Derbyshire 
County Council commit to its pledge to reduce carbon emissions, reduce 
waste and work with key partners to reduce emissions and improve the 
environment. 

North East 
Derbyshire Climate 
Change Action Plan 
2019-2030 

As above, the TIP will help the North East Derbyshire Council to ensure it can 
remain committed to carbon reduction, with its Carbon Reduction Plan based 
around themes such as Sustainable Buildings and Workplaces, Transport, and 
Community and Collaboration. 

3.3.1 Spatial strategy 

Based on the assessment of needs, key challenges for the Town and opportunities for growth, a 
spatial strategy for growth has been developed, set out in Figure 3.1 below.  Central to the 
spatial strategy is a reinvigoration of the town centre as the living heart of the town and being 
the genuine centre of the community, providing access to a strong range of retail, leisure and 
civic resources, but also importantly being the centre of community of life, confirmed through 
the creation of a market square and the focusing of key new assets, such as the skills hub, in this 
area.  Importantly it will be accessible to the whole community by means of active travel.   

Within the town centre the focus will be to enliven Market Street, with the redevelopment of 
land to the north of Market Street and the creation of the Skills and Enterprise Hub and Creative 
Clay Cross immediately to the south. This development will be centred around the new market 
square.  Development and access improvements to the north of the town centre around Bridge 
Street will further strengthen the town centre but importantly create a link between the heart 
of the town centre and edge of centre development around Tesco – creating an integrated, 

Page 100



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

23 
 

connected ‘whole’ town centre.  Along High Street (A61) and Market Street, traffic management 
and public realm works will reconnect this ‘gateway;’ area and ‘frontdoor’ to the town centre 
into the new heart.  

More widely the focus will be on developing and enhancing key assets and connecting through, 
public realm and other into the town centre and thereby the town as a whole. Sharley Park and 
Sharley Park Leisure Centre and the adjacent NHS Hospital will be the focus for active leisure, 
health and well-being. Kenning Park will be a place for families and young children and more 
passive and sedate recreation. Coney Park will continue to be the focus of industrial growth, 
pushed forward through the provision of new local carbon industrial space and again connected 
into the town centre via the walking and cycling network. Development to the north of the town 
centre and beyond that improved walking any cycling infrastructure will connect with the 
growth area of Egstow Park and the new rail station. 

Page 101



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

24 
 

 
Figure 3.1: Emerging Spatial Strategy for Clay Cross  

 
Source: Emerging Strategy, Buttress 

P
age 102



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

25 
 

3.3.2 Guiding principles 

The implementation of the strategy will be guided by investment principles, recognising the 
importance of aligning local transformation with key strategic themes that will shape 
communities over the short, medium and longer term:  

 COVID-19 – the pandemic and response has already, and will continue to have, long-
lasting effects on communities and businesses within Clay Cross. There is clear evidence 
that those in poverty have been most severely impacted during lockdown and are less well 
placed to respond to challenges and opportunities in the recovery. Similar to many areas 
experiencing significant deprivation, Clay Cross has been severely impacted. 

Working with the Government, the Town Deal Board recognise the importance of 
adopting a proactive response, investing to create the conditions for sustainable growth 
over the longer term.  Alongside ensuring that infrastructure adapts to meet the changing 
demands placed on businesses and services, there is a recognition that investment must 
also respond to the impact on communities, addressing unemployment and tackling the 
longer term health consequences of the lockdown. 

 Green recovery – clean growth is established as a key theme and core objective of the 
Investment Plan. The principle of promoting positive change through a truly green 
recovery will underpin investment within the town. Establishing this as one of the guiding 
principles of the Plan will ensure it is embedded in project planning from the outset. The 
long term benefits arising from a green recovery will be recognised in the approach to 
project prioritisation and investment. 

The Town Board recognises that a green recovery will create significant opportunities and, 
through the delivery of the Plan, it will look to engage with partners to ensure that local 
businesses and residents are well placed to take advantage of future investments within 
this sector.  

 Inclusive growth and promoting aspiration – levelling up requires that all sections of 
society realise tangible benefits from intervention under the Towns Fund. Alongside 
creating opportunities for investment within the town, the Plan will target disadvantaged 
and deprived groups through investment that aligns with wider programmes, creating 
pathways to opportunity for local residents at a range of levels.  

Representing diverse interests, the Board recognises that effective partnership between 
the public, private and community sectors will be critical to ensure that interventions 
provide opportunities for local residents to reach their potential.  

3.4 Prioritising projects for Towns Fund support 

3.4.1 Criteria for selecting projects 

A long list of projects has drawn up through the review of baseline evidence and discussions 
with stakeholders including the Council, the Town Deal Board and representatives of the wider 

Page 103



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

26 
 

community.  The projects were appraised against a range of criteria to identify those that would 
be submitted for the Towns Fund, and in total nine projects were shortlisted.  The assessment 
criteria were selected having regard to HM Treasury guidance and are outlined in Table 3.2.  

Table 3.1: Criteria for prioritising interventions for Towns Deal Funding 

Criteria  Factors considered  

Alignment with Towns Fund 
Objectives (market failure, 
ToC, delivery by 2026/27 

 Overall focus – economic and productivity growth  

 Eligible outputs 

 Early impact on the economy in response to COVID 19 

 Clean growth  

Strategic fit  

(Clay Cross Regeneration 
Framework; Local Plan; D2N2 
Industrial Strategy)   

 Developing the economy and tackling deprivation (inclusive 
growth) 

 Focus on key objectives/priorities  

Benefits  

 

 

 Additional benefits  

 Clear Theory of Change/logic model  

 Environmental benefits  

Deliverability  

 

 

 Available skills and resources (including revenue support) 

 Project deliverability  

 Risks, dependencies and constraints 

Affordability/leverage   Match Funding availability 

 Leverage  

 Cost Certainty  

Fit with guiding principles  COVID-19 response 

 Green recovery 

 Inclusive growth and promoting aspiration 

A results of the project prioritisation process are set out in Appendix X.  A summary of the 
rationale for inclusion of each project and what they are aiming to address is provided in the 
following section, with an overall logic model for the Town Investment Plan.    

3.4.2 Summary logic model for the Town Investment Plan and proposed projects 

A logic model for the overarching Town Investment Plan is summarised in Figure 3.2, and Table 
3.3 for the projects. Theories of change for each of the projects highlighted above are set out in 
the project templates that comprise the second part of the Town Investment Plan (Tip 2). 

Page 104



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

27 
 

Figure 3.2: Logic model for the Town Investment Plan 

Local
context 

Strategic  
context

Inputs

• Town Centre – poor appearance, connectivity, pedestrian
environment

• Strong manufacturing base/employers Worcester Bosch

• Lower skills and educational attainment; poor social
mobility, increasing unemployment

• Poor health – high % long term health issues; high obesity

• Projected increase in dependent population – young; 65+

• Government Industrial Strategy; A Green Future

• D2N2 Local Industrial Strategy

• Clay Cross Regeneration Framework 2025

• North East DerbyshireCouncil Plan 2019-2023; Local Plan

• Towns Funding 

• Town Deal Board 

• Active community and voluntary 
sector and strong ethos of 
partnership working  

• Private sector investment in the 
area – St Modwen housing; 
major regeneration schemes 

• Clay Cross Creative 
• Market Street / Bridge Street
• Bridge Street / Smithy Street
• Training, Learning and Enterprise Hub
• Public Realm and Traffic Management 

improvements
• New Sharley Park Leisure Centre 
• Rail Station feasibility 
• Low Carbon Industrial Workspace
• District Heating Pilot (and Feasibility) 

• New business start ups; new businesses attracted to the 
Town 

• Number of enterprises assisted with high quality 
workspace

• Number of new learners assisted to gain qualifications 

• Increased footfall/visitor numbers  

• Improved perception of the area

• Attraction of new residents, retention of young people  

• Increasing land values 

• Reduced congestion 

Outcomes 

• Delivery of new/refurbished of 
commercial; retail; leisure  floorspace 
(sqm)

• Business incubation space (sqm)

• New/upgraded leisure facilities  

• Establishment of new youth 
facil ities/services  

• Upgraded/repurposed 
community/training hub 

• New skil ls infrastructure 

Impacts 

• Vibrant Town Centre 

• Well connected Town

• Improved image and profile – maximising the Towns 
Industrial heritage  

• Growth in the local economy – jobs/GVA

• Increased wage rates and productivity  (GVA per 
worker)

• Lower levels of unemployment and deprivation 

• Improved health and quality of l ife for residents

Activities
Outputs 

Objectives

• Improve Town Centre, image and perceptions

• Enhance connectivity and strategic linkages

• Raise aspirations for young people through improved education
and skills attainment; attract and grow new enterprises

• Improve access to health, leisure and recreation facil ities

• Strengthen the community heart and pride within the area

• Promote clean and inclusivegrowth

Clay Cross Town Investment Plan 

 
 P

age 105



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

28 
 

Table 3.2: Project logic model 

Project 
description  

Towns 
Fund 
Request  

Rationale Alignment 
with the 
intervention 
framework  

Outputs  Outcomes /indicators  

Clay Cross 
Creative 

 

£750,000  Improvement of a key heritage building to 
strengthen the Conservation Area, currently 
at risk 

 Provide new, diversified job opportunities  

 Assist in rejuvenating the Town Centre – 
increase footfall  

 Addresses the lack of cultural and 
entertainment assets and key services in Clay 
Cross 

 Potential to build on the activity of First Arts 
and others to foster a creative makers’ 
initiative 

Arts, Culture 
and Heritage 

 

 Refurbished workspace 
floorspace 

 New businesses and 
jobs  

 Increased visitors to the 
town centre 

 New arts, cultural & 
creative events 

 Improve 
perceptions and 
profile of the area  

 Increase number of 
visitors   

Market Street 
/ Bridge 
Street 

£4 
million 

 Creation of a square and event space 
addresses current lack of public space for 
events 

 Revitalisation of the Town Centre  

 Brings retail into the Town Centre  

 Re-use of vacant properties  

 Improved connectivity between Market St 
and commercial/retail development to the 
north – promoting linked trips, footfall and 
expenditure in the Town Centre 

 Market square to provide a focus for 
community activity, markets and events, 
increasing footfall, retention of spend and 
encouraging development of micro 
businesses. 

 New housing meets need for lower cost 
affordable homes within the Town Centre  

Urban 
Regeneration, 
Planning and 
Land Use 

 New commercial 
floorspace 

 New jobs and town 
centre living  

 New businesses 

 New arts, cultural & 
creative events 

 Additional visitors 
to the town centre 

 Improve profile 
and footfall within 
the Town Centre 

Bridge Street 
/ Smithy 

£5  Relocation of the bus station critical to Town Urban 
Regeneration, 

 Increased footfall, 
spend - new jobs and 

 Land values P
age 106



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

29 
 

Table 3.2: Project logic model 

Project 
description  

Towns 
Fund 
Request  

Rationale Alignment 
with the 
intervention 
framework  

Outputs  Outcomes /indicators  

Street million Centre development   

 Improved linkages between heart of town 
centre and edge of centre retail area 

 Re-use of underused land to create new 
homes and commercial opportunities – new 
activity, footfall and spend in the town 
centre. 

 Scope to accommodate new larger format 
leisure uses close to the town centre, 
contributing towards retention of activity 
and spend 

Planning and 
Land Use 

businesses 

 Additional visitors to 
town centre 

 Brownfield land re-used 

 Land value uplift  

 Improved 
perceptions of the 
place by residents, 
businesses and 
visitors 

 New enterprises 

Clay Cross 
Training, 
Learning and 
Enterprise 
Hub (Social 
Centre/AEC) 

£3 
million 

 High unemployment, low educational 
attainment, poor social mobility and 
aspirations  

 Lower productivity and high proportion of 
lower value added jobs 

 Skills support access to employment 
opportunities, new and existing businesses 
development and enhanced productivity 

 Demand led training to improve 
competitiveness of the business base 

Skills 
infrastructure 

 New training 
opportunities provided 
– digital skills and 
employer led 

 Provision of workspace 
for micro enterprises  

 New learners 
becoming job ready  

 Unemployed people 
assisted  

 Increased wages  

 Improved 
productivity 

High Street 
and Market 
Street Public 
Realm and 
Traffic 
Management 

£3 
million 

 Reduced traffic and congestion, improved 
vehicle movements, enhance air quality and 
environment 

 Will address poor appearance of the town 
centre, poor perceptions and poor 
pedestrian environment  

 Improved public realm – to attract more 
visitors to the Town Centre 

  

Local 
Transport 

 Increase sustainable 
travel to and within 
Town Centre 

 Reduction in congestion  

  

 Improved 
environmental 
impacts 

 Improved health 
and well-being of 
residents 

 Improved profile of 
the Town Centre 

Sharley Park £6  Enhances the provision of green space and Health and  New community  Reduction in poor 

P
age 107



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

30 
 

Table 3.2: Project logic model 

Project 
description  

Towns 
Fund 
Request  

Rationale Alignment 
with the 
intervention 
framework  

Outputs  Outcomes /indicators  

and Sharley 
Park Leisure 
Centre 
(incorporating 
an energy 
demonstrate 
project and 
housing to 
the north of 
Market 
Street) 

million Sharley Park as a ‘destination’ space 
attracting visitors to the Town Centre  

 Will promote healthy lifestyles – addressing 
long term limiting illnesses, impacting 
aspirations and productivity  

 Addresses under-provision for young people 

 New leisure centre - key priority from 
community consultation – currently out-
moded and costly to run 

 Improvements to Bret Club - to provide 
improved resources for the community and 
young people 

 Associated energy project will contribute to 
net zero carbon objectives  

Wellbeing facilities  

 Additional visitors  

  

health – increased 
employment, 
productivity  

 Raise image and 
profile of the area  

 Improved quality of 
life  

 Environmental 
improvements – 
low carbon  

Rail Station 
(feasibility) 

£100,000  Rail station- would improve market potential 
of the area and its suitability for new 
homeowners 

 Enhanced access to employment and training 
opportunities in the wider region 

 Better commuting options will enhance 
ability to attract and retain higher skilled 
workers – improve competitiveness and GVA  

 Will enhance sustainable travel, reduce road 
congestion   

Local 
Transport 

 Reduction in road trips 
(by car) 

 Attraction of residents, 
visitors, employees 

 Attraction of more 
businesses/jobs 

 Increase land value  

 Environmental 
improvements  

 Raise profile and 
accessibility of the 
area 

Low Carbon 
Industrial 
Workspace, 
Coney Green 

£1.5 
million 

 Potential to exploit opportunity for new, high 
quality, smaller scale industrial space for 
lease to meet latent local demand 

 Opportunity to deliver low carbon space 
consistent with the wider energy strategy. 

 Retention of innovation, entrepreneurs and 
higher skills in the Town  

Enterprise 
Infrastructure 

 New industrial, high 
quality floorspace 

 Attraction of new 
businesses and jobs 

 Increased GVA 
through new, 
higher value added 
businesses 

 Improved skills 
base  P

age 108



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

31 
 

Table 3.2: Project logic model 

Project 
description  

Towns 
Fund 
Request  

Rationale Alignment 
with the 
intervention 
framework  

Outputs  Outcomes /indicators  

District 
Heating Pilot 
(and 
Feasibility) 

 

£1 
million 

 Capitalises on opportunity afforded by: 

o new leisure centre delivery with a 
significant heat load 

o the commitment of Worcester Bosch to 
energy innovation 

o the presence of a number of significant 
industrial uses with high energy load 

o the presence of significant ground 
source heat to develop a clean growth 
energy strategy for the town, potentially 
utilising hydrogen as part of the energy 
mix 

 Addresses high instances of energy poverty 
and continued extensive use of coal as a 
domestic energy source 

 Attraction of new energy sector businesses 
and development opportunities 

Clean Growth  New community and 
business infrastructure 

 Attraction of new 
business opportunities 
and jobs  

 Attraction of skilled 
individuals   

 Increased jobs and 
GVA  

 Reduced carbon 
emissions and 
improved 
environmental 
standards  

 Improved quality of 
life for residents 

 
 
 
 

P
age 109



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

32 
 

4 Engagement and delivery 

4.1 Stakeholder Engagement  

4.1.1 Overview 

A range of stakeholders (residents, businesses and employers) have been consulted and 
engaged throughout the development of the Clay Cross Towns Fund Investment Plan. A strategy 
was developed and shared with officers from NEDC to provide clarity and transparency 
regarding the process, and to inform residents and business of the future plans for Clay Cross 
and to provide an opportunity to help shape their future. 

Overall, two primary approaches to engagement have been adopted: 

 Public consultation – a phased consultation process to inform an assessment of current 
conditions and priorities for the local community; and 

 Stakeholder consultation – one-to-one consultations with key stakeholders including 
board members, employers, skills providers and other relevant parties. 

4.1.2 Public Consultation  

Two phases of consultation have been carried out, with the first focusing on ‘Issues and 
Opportunities’ and the second phase consulting on the draft Investment Plan. The detailed 
feedback from the consultation process is attached at Appendix X. 

A variety of methods were utilised to engage the community and different stakeholders, 
tailored to the various ways that people prefer to communicate and engage.  An inclusive 
approach sought to maximise the level of response from a wide cross-section of the community 
employing a combination of digital and print mediums, including:  

 online content hosted on the Council’s website and a social media campaign, utilising 
established platforms;  

 press releases informing residents about the consultation being open, what it’s for 
and how to take part and the process, alongside postings in the News Magazine and 
Derbyshire Times; 

 postcards to residents of Clay Cross and public exhibition boards; 

 promotion via local community groups and organisations.  

In total [xxx] were engaged throughout the process.  Alongside engagement with the 
website and social media; there were 389 responses to the first survey and 225 responses 
to the second phase. An article was also included in the NEWS magazine, distributed to 
45,000 residents across NE Derbyshire, and postcards were hand delivered to 4,000 local 
properties. All consultation responses and feedback were collated and results posted on 

Page 110



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

33 
 

the website to encourage ongoing dialogue throughout the consultation phase, and the 
detailed responses and key findings from both surveys can be found in Appendix X.  

(i) Phase 1: 26th June - 13th July 

The first phase of the consultation and engagement process comprised:  

 The development and launch of the website – which was been updated regularly – and 
publicised via ‘We Love Clay Cross’ post cards delivered to all addresses in the Clay Cross 
Towns Fund area, directing people to the website, and providing postal and telephone 
contact details for people to get in touch;  

 An Online Survey – development of a survey for residents, local businesses and 
stakeholders – who were invited to respond to a broad range of questions and themes in 
order to gauge views and seek feedback from the community. This survey will be 
disseminated to local residents through both digital and physical mediums.   

 Rolling programme of Facebook and Instagram Ads - running alongside the survey - a 
number of social media questions were posed via Instagram/Facebook. These were 
targeted to the community within Clay Cross posing questions such as ‘What do you love 
about Clay Cross?’ and ‘What would you change?’.  The adverts directed people towards 
the website to participate and have their say.  

 Issuing a press release to advise residents and businesses of the activities underway.  

(ii) Phase 2: 31st July – 24th August  

The second phase of the consultation process focused on the issue of a second survey with the 
community invited to comment on the draft Investment Plan and potential project proposals.  
This phase was supported by a press release, posters in the Town Centre and summary 
exhibition boards placed at various locations across the Town Centre.  

In addition to the distribution of the online survey (Survey Monkey), paper copies of the survey 
were provided at popular convenience stores on Market Street and the Hight Street to engage 
residents without access to online services.  

Alongside the targeted engagement process, residents, businesses and stakeholders were also 
invited to provide their views through the Government’s MyTown portal, which was open 
throughout the consultation period.  

4.1.3 Stakeholder consultation 

Targeted engagement with key stakeholders has played an important role in guiding the 
baseline analysis and identification of key opportunities and challenges at the local level. 
Alongside this, consultations have guided the identification and prioritisation of intervention 
opportunities within the town. 

To represent a wide range of views, consultations have been undertaken with a wide range of 
stakeholders: 

Page 111



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

34 
 

 Towns Deal Board – key individuals have been consulted in their capacity as members of 
the Board, representing the wider interests of the Clay Cross community; 

 Businesses and developers – Worcester Bosch, Larksfleet Group, St Modwen, Roe 
Developments; 

 Public sector agencies – a range of parties representing specific areas of interest including 
D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership, Sport England and Homes England; 

 Education and skills - Chesterfield College, DCC Adult Education Services, Derby University; 

 Energy – Midlands Energy Hub, E.ON plc, Coal Authority; 

 Transport and infrastructure - HS2, Network Rail, East Midland Railways; 

 Creative and community sector - Junction Arts, First Arts, Active Derbyshire; 

 Community representatives – members of the local parish councils. 

A full list of consultees is attached at Appendix X. 

4.1.4 Future stakeholder engagement strategy  

Recognising the importance of sustaining effective engagement to the delivery of the ambitions 
outlined in the Town Investment Plan, the Stakeholder Engagement Plan (Appendix X) sets out 
the principles that will be adopted to ensure that an effective approach is maintained 
throughout the bidding process and into delivery. 

In addition to continued stakeholder engagement through the working groups, a programme of  
awareness and aspiration raising community engagement and associated events will put in 
place building on work being undertaken by existing partners include Active Derbyshire, 
Junction Arts and First Arts.  This will be supported by on-going social media and other media 
updates.  Public consultation will also be undertaken as part of the feasibility and pre-planning 
stages of project development.   A shadow Youth Board will be established and have 
representation on the main board.  Direct engagement will be undertaken with local schools.  
The Board and North East Derbyshire Council will also work with partners to expand or establish 
existing and new interest groups.  These will focus on town centre business, the wider business 
community, Sharley and Kenning Park and the creative community. 

4.2 Private sector investment 

[To be completed] 

Commitments secured from the private sector at this stage comprise: 

 Worcester Bosch – provision of a training resource as part of the Skills and Enterprise Hub, 
commitment to an energy network feasibility study, support for the energy demonstrate 
project as part of Sharley Park Leisure Centre; 

 Larksfleet Group – commitment to the delivery of Bridge Street gasification/biomass plant, 
support for the energy network feasibility study; 

Page 112



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

35 
 

 Disc Golf Distribution Limited – creation of a Golf Disk course at Sharley Park; 

 Diana Yates (local entrepreneur) – has commitment to partnership working on Clay Cross 
Creative and associated youth projects. 

The Board will seek to ensure that private sector investment is maximised in support of the 
objectives of the Plan, exploring opportunities for leverage. 

At a strategic level, the programme of interventions will contribute to addressing key market 
failures, linked to externalities and imperfect information, creating the conditions for increased 
private sector investment over the longer term.  

4.3 Business case development and appraisal  

4.3.1 Business Case Development 

All projects that will submitted for Town Deal funding will be supported with a robust Business 
Case that will be developed in accordance with the Five Case Business Case model, outlined in 
Figure 4.1. This will ensure that they meet the standards required by HM Treasury’s Green Book. 

Each business case will confirm the strategic context for the proposal; set out a robust case for 
change; assess a range of potential options as to the best way forward; and consider the 
deliverability and viability of the options explored. In doing so, it will identify the preferred 
option that optimises value for money; the financial requirement and project’s affordability; the 
supporting procurement strategy, and the management arrangements for the successful 
delivery of the project.   

Figure 4.1: Five Case Model 

 

Page 113



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

36 
 

The following key issues will be considered under each of the Five Cases: 

 Strategic Case - this will set out a robust and evidence-based case for the investment, 
establishing the rationale and fit with national, regional and local policies.  Key issues 
related to need and demand, and evidence gathered from stakeholders will be considered. 

 Economic Case - the development of this case will involve identification of a long-list of 
options for assessment against their strategic fit, achievability, affordability and 
acceptability.  A short-list of options will be selected and taken forward as part the 
detailed appraisal.  The costs and benefits of each option will be compared to determine 
which option offers the best value for money (using net present public value and benefit 
cost ratios). The risks associated with each option will also be considered. 

 Commercial Case - the purpose of this case is to demonstrate that the preferred option 
will result in a viable procurement and well-structured deal, providing certainty in terms of 
delivery and minimising risk to the public sector.  In close consultation with project 
partners, the proposed procurement and delivery route will be explored, considering the 
appropriate strategy and preferred delivery arrangements. 

 Financial Case - the capital and revenue requirements associated with the project will be 
set out within the Financial Case.  The overall cashflow, its net present value (NPV) and the 
funding sources will also be set out.  In addition, it will be important to identify the 
forecast annual funding/income for the project and its affordability based on budget 
provisions. 

 Management Case - this case will set out how the project will be managed by the lead 
agency and their partners.  It will include identifying the governance arrangements, as well 
as identifying clear roles and responsibilities. 

North East Derbyshire Council will be responsible for overseeing the development and delivery 
of all relevant business cases for Town Deal funding and ensuring that they are appraised in line 
with HM Treasury Green Book guidance where this is carried out by the Local Accountable Body.  
To support the business case development process the Council will need to procure technical 
assistance where this is not available in house. 

4.3.2 Business Case Appraisal 

To support the Business Case Appraisal process, North East Derbyshire Council will draw on the 
expertise within the LEP (e.g. with regard to the adoption of practices and standards outlined in 
their  Assurance Framework) to ensure that a system is put in place that will provide 
Government and local partners with assurance that decisions over the allocation of Town Deal 
funding are proper, transparent and deliver value for money.   

If projects are being appraised locally, it is envisaged that a Town Deal Investment Panel will be 
established, with suitably skilled individuals drawn from relevant partner agencies (e.g. with 
representatives from the public, private, and community and voluntary sectors) and 
government, to ensure there is sufficient oversight and scrutiny of the business case proposals 
brought forward.  This panel will in turn report to the Town Deal Board, regarding the allocation 
of funding and best use of public sector funding.   

Page 114



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

37 
 

Where projects are appraised locally, the following process will be implemented: 

 Stage 1: Projects will be requested to complete an Outline Business Case (using the five-
case business model) for approval by the Town Deal Investment Panel. 

 Stage 2: The Town Deal Investment Panel will undertake an initial review to ensure that 
the project is in line with the TIP and Prospectus. 

 Stage 3: If positive, a full business case (with supporting implementation/business plan) 
will be prepared and submitted to the Investment Panel for consideration. 

 Stage 4: The Investment Panel will seek an independent evaluation/appraisal of the 
scheme to ensure that it is Green Book compliant. 

 Stage 5: Investment Panel decisions will be presented to the Town Deal Board for final 
approval. 

 Stage 6: If approved by the Board, a funding agreement (with conditions where necessary) 
will be negotiated with the project sponsor. 

 Stage 7: Schemes will proceed once final contracts have been approved by the 
Accountable Body and project sponsor. 

4.4 Delivery plan 

4.4.1 Governance 

The delivery of the Clay Cross strategy and Town Investment Plan programme will be overseen 
by North East Derbyshire District Council (the accountable body) and the Clay Cross Town 
Board.  A lead officer with be identified to co-ordinate delivery across the TIP programme and 
report to the Clay Cross Board.   

The Board has presentation from the key delivery partners including North East Derbyshire 
District Council, Derbyshire County Council, D2N2, Homes and Communities Agency, 
Chesterfield College, Derby University, Sport England, Derbyshire County FA, Worcester Bosch 
(private business) and Global Brands (Private Business).  The membership of the board will be 
kept under review to ensure focus but also appropriate representation in core priority areas. 
Consideration is therefore being given to engagement from the arts/cultural sector and a youth 
representative.  

The TIP programme and work of the Clay Cross Board will be reported to Cabinet committees at 
District and County. 

The Clay Cross Strategy and TIP programme will be articulated through the preparation of an 
Investment Prospectus. The Investment Prospectus, which will be public and market facing, will 
confirm the vision and objectives, the strategy and the detail of projects as they develop.  This 
will be encompassed in an Action Plan and investment programme identify in key actions, lead 
partner and milestones.  This Action Plan and investment programme will address the early 
intervention, business planning and delivery phases. The Investment Prospectus, Action Plan 
and Investment Programme will be monitored and regularly updated.  

Page 115



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

38 
 

The Board will also work with the Midland Energy Hub and the Parish Council to established a 
programme of carbon benchmarking. 

4.4.2 Communication and Engagement 

The Clay Cross Town Board will oversee the delivery of an on-going programme of community 
engagement and communication, including the delivery of cultural, creative, arts and active 
events with partners, including First Arts and Active Derbyshire.  The Board will explore the 
scope to support and develop existing and in some cases community action groups in the form 
of a Town Centre Businesses Group, and ‘Friends of’ groups for Sharley Park and Kenning Park. 
Working with Tupton Hall School and Chesterfield College and other partners the Board will also 
work towards the establishment of a shadow Youth Board 

4.4.3 Business Planning and Project Development 

The Board will oversee Business Planning and project development.  The detail of Business 
Planning and project development will be supported by working groups, overseen by the board 
and managed and supported by lead officers with appropriate technical support.  Each working 
group has a representative on the Clay Cross Board.  The role of the working groups against 
each TIP project is set out in Table 4.1. 

Table 4.1: Working group structure 

Working 
Group 

Status Projects Other Objectives/ 
Project Links 

Work  to date 

Town Centre 
Regeneration  

Currently 
configured as a 
Built Environment 
Working Group 

Market Street  

Bridge Street 

Land of Broadleys 

Infill Housing 

Bio-diversity / GI /  Public 
Realm 

Pedestrian and cycle Links 

Traffic Management 

Coney Green Industrial 

Creative Clay Cross 
Skills Hub 

Input into the TIP 
and Town Centre 
strategy 

Sharley Park 
Leisure 
Centre 

Established Sharley Park Leisure Centre Youth Initiatives 

Active Events 

Energy Strategy 

Sharley Park 
Masterplan 

Outline scheme for 
Leisure Centre. 
Input into the TIP 
bid 

Skills and 
Enterprise 

Established Skills and Enterprise Hub 

 

Clay Cross Creative  

Town Centre 
Regeneration 

Youth Initiatives 

Input into the TIP 
bid 

Clay Cross 
Creative 

In development2 Clay Cross Creative  Youth Initiatives 

Active Events 

Input into TIP bid 

                                                           
2 Current involvement of DCC, First Arts, private sector partner 

Page 116



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

39 
 

Public Art 
programme 

Skills Hub 

Low Carbon 
Energy  

In development3 Low Carbon Energy Network 
Feasibility 

Low Carbon Energy 
Demonstrator Project 

Sharley Park  
Leisure Centre 
Energy pilot 

Zero Carbon 
Benchmarking 

In put into TIP bid 

Rail  Established Rail Station Feasibility 

 

Traffic 
Management 

Ped / Cycle Links 

In put into TIP bid 

Scoping of 
feasibility study 

4.4.4 Project Delivery 

An Action Plan and outline programme for delivery has been prepared. This included reference 
to key risk.  The deliverability of the strategy overall is added by a significant focus on assets and 
land within the public estate and on public realm and connectivity improvements.  Key partners 
have been involved in the development of the bid and their support has been confirmed for 
aspects where there input will be required.  These will limit risks in delivery.  The Rail and 
Energy projects will be the subject of detailed feasibility studies and once proven funded via 
other sources.  Whilst these project would in themselves be transformational and would be 
hugely beneficial to the wider investment offer of the town they are not fundamental to the 
successful delivery of other initiatives. 

All projects are consistent with the adopted Development Plan.   

The Market Street and Bridge Street projects are central to the TIP programme and in 
addressing both key priorities identified in public consultation and market failure in the town 
centre.  Whilst there is significant public sector land holdings in these area, there is a 
requirement to assembly third party land.  There has been some engagement with landowners 
to-date and all are aware of the emerging proposals. Discussion that have taken place have not 
identified any fundamental barriers to site assembly.  However site assembly risks will be 
addressed through a robust planning strategy and a planning approval will be in place to 
support compulsory purchase should that be required. 

Market demand and developer appetite is a key risk, which in large part is a function both of the 
existing investment offer of the town and the challenges the town centre faces as well as the 
wider economic slowdown.  This market failure has to be addressed to bring about the 
transformational change required in the town centre to ensure that it can full meeting the 
needs of the community and to be a place in which the whole community have pride.  The 
driver for transformational change in these areas is driven in part by the need to enhance the 
sense of activity and vibrancy in the town, increased footfall, improve the environment and 
connectivity and create a new public space.  As such and given the compact, smaller scale and 
mixed nature of Clay Cross, the project benefits from the potential to offer a mix of uses and 
indeed flexible spaces, reflecting of the market, without a need for reliance any single sector.  
There are also a number of existing occupiers that would ideally be retained and relocated as 

                                                           
3 Current involvement of BEIS, Midland Energy Hub, DCC, Worcester Bosch 

Page 117



   North East Derbyshire Council 
   Clay Cross Town Investment Plan - Working Draft Report 

   Version 1 - 8th September 2020 

40 
 

part of the project.   The delivery risks for the development projects will be addressed through a 
number of actions, including: 

 on-going market positioning, market analysis and soft market testing;  

 consideration of procurement routes, including the scope for appointment of a 
contractor/developer partner where there is involvement in other TIP projects; and 

 flexibility around user mix, scale and phasing. 

4.4.5 Milestones 

[To be completed] 

4.4.6 Risk 

[To be completed] 

 

 

Page 118



 

 
 

Appendix A - Title of Appendix 

Page 119



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

Clay Cross Update report 

The draft Town Investment Plan (TIP) has been issued but the work is continuing 

to develop this further. The TIP themes are presented today for comment and the 

comments will be taken on board to shape the final TIP. 

The final TIP will be issued to the board for discussion at the 9 th October board 

meeting. With the submission date of the 31st October already confirmed with the 

Town Hub Co-ordinators. 

The next stage is shown below: 

 

An outline action plan has been developed by Nexus and this will be used to 

guide the further development of the work plan.  

When the TIP has been submitted and HoTs are agreed the Clay Cross Town 

Deal Board will need to procure a suitably qualified consultant to develop the 

detailed projects and business cases. This can be started in advance of the 

announcement of the Town Deal so the consultants are ready to start as soon as 

the announcement is made.  

This will include the feasibility, viability and alternative sources of funding that 

can be used to match the Town Deal funding. There hasn’t been a specific 

request for match funding however this will improve the offer if match funding 

can be secured. This can include other additional Government funding as well as 

private sector funding. 

The process is shown below: 

Page 120

Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

 

 

Page 121


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Last Meeting
	Notes 26 June 2020
	Notes 10 July 2020
	Notes 24 July 2020

	4 Stage 2 Consultation Outcomes
	Eastgate
	2 Castle Street
	Castlefield
	Manchester
	M3 4LZ
	T: 0161 819 6570
	E: info@nexusplanning.co.uk
	1.0 Introduction
	1.1 The purpose of this document is to provide an overview of the findings of the various stages and methods of consultation that have been employment in order to inform the preparation and drafting of the Clay Cross Town Investment Plan. This documen...
	1.2 As part of the development of the Clay Cross Town Investment Plan, Nexus Planning, working alongside North East Derbyshire District Council and the Clay Cross Towns Board, issued two online questionnaires to residents, businesses and employers wit...
	1.3 The consultation primarily ran in two phases, Phase 1 from Friday 26th June to Monday 13th July and Phase 2 from Friday 31st July to Monday 24th August.
	1.4 In Phase 1, residents, local businesses and stakeholders were invited to respond to an online survey that set out a broad range of questions and themes in order to gauge the views and seek feedback from the community. Following this, Phase 2 relat...
	1.5 The results of Phases 1 and 2 are set out below.
	1.6 Other consultation methods have included the Government’s MyTown portal and a process led by the BDA in order to engage with members of the Clay Cross Deaf community.

	2.0 Phase One Consultation June to July 2020
	Introduction
	2.1 The consultation period ran from 26th June to 13th July and the surveys were publicised via online sources, the Council’s website and social media accounts, local news organisations, circulation by local community groups and organisations, posters...
	2.2 In total, 389 surveys were completed.
	Summary
	2.3 The majority of respondents (84.24%) were aged between 25 and 64 and the majority (62.8%) provided their postcode as being within S45, which covers Clay Cross and Ashover to the west and Pilsley to the east, and 61.68% of respondents live in Clay ...
	2.4 Private motor vehicles are the preferred mode of transport for travelling to work/school or college (71.66%) or when visiting the town centre (64.04%). A total of 27.56% of respondents visit the town centre on foot.
	2.5 Respondents reported that their top factors for liking Clay Cross are that it is a friendly place (13.0%), close to the countryside (6.5%), benefits from free parking (6.2%), the opportunities for shopping (5.9%) has a sense of community spirit (3...
	2.6 To improve Clay Cross, respondents believe that more shops, a new leisure centre and improvements to the A61 are the top priorities. 67.28% of respondents reported that better provision of shops would encourage them to visit Clay Cross town centre...
	2.7 When respondents were asked to indicate the importance of a number of possible projects, 62.60% of respondents stated that improving the appearance of the town centre was a very important project. There is wide support for projects being located c...
	 The prevalence of anti-social behaviour
	 The need to improve the town centre
	 Providing activities for children/young people
	 Reducing vehicular movement through the town
	Survey Results
	2.8 Question 1 of the survey asked respondents whether they agreed to the Council’s GDPR rules and if they were happy for their answers to be used within the report. We have not published these answers here. The responses below are from those who agre...
	Question 2: Which age category are you within?
	2.9 A total of 42.64% of respondents were aged between 45 and 64 and 41.60% were aged between 25 and 44. 5.43% of respondents were aged under 24, with 0.78% being aged under 16. Respondents aged over 80 totalled 0.26% of respondents.
	Question 3: Please provide your post code
	2.10 The three most common post code responses are S45 – Clay Cross, Ashover, Pilsley - (169 responses, 62.8% of the total), S42 - Holymoorside, Grassmoor, North Wingfield, Tupton, Wingerworth, Mastin Moor - (55 responses, 20.4% of the total) and DE55...
	Question 4: Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?
	2.11 The majority of respondents lived in Clay Cross (61.68% of total respondents). However, in respect of working or attending school in Clay Cross a majority of respondents did not, with just 4.66% of respondents attending school and 27.93% working ...
	Question 5: How do you usually travel…?
	2.12 In respect of modes of transport, it is clear that private motor vehicle use is the predominant means of transport in Clay Cross. A total of 71.66% of respondents use a private motor vehicle for travelling to work/school or college, and 64.04% of...
	Question 6: What do you like most about Clay Cross?
	2.13 When asked this question, the top response provided was that Clay Cross is a friendly place (13.0%), with respondents also liking that it is close to the countryside (6.5%), benefits from free parking (6.2%), the opportunities for shopping (5.9%)...
	Question 7: What is your top priority to improve Clay Cross?
	2.14 The top five responses provided to improve Clay Cross were more shops, a new leisure centre, improving the A61 as it moves through the town centre, improvements to the appearance and streetscape and finally to pedestrianise market street.
	Question 8: How often do you visit the town centre?
	2.15 The overwhelming majority of respondents (66.15%) reported visiting the town centre either daily or more than once a week (19.64% and 46.51% respectively). A further 19.90% of respondents reported visiting once a week. This demonstrates that a su...
	Question 9: Why do you visit the town centre?
	2.16 In terms of reasons for visiting the town centre, to buy food and grocery items was reported by 92.43% of respondents. This is perhaps reflective of the strong food and grocery offer in the town centre. Other top responses include to eat out/drin...
	Question 10: Are there any other reasons why you visit the town centre?
	2.17 When asked this question, other than the reasons listed above, 4.93% of respondents stated that they visit the town centre to attend the doctors, 3.45% visit to access takeaways, to take exercise and to visit the library. 2.96% of respondents vis...
	Question 11: Which of these would encourage you to visit the town centre more frequently?
	2.18 67.28% of respondents reported that better provision of shops would encourage them to visit Clay Cross town centre more frequently. Other key responses include better leisure facilities (56.20%), more fun things to do (48.81%), more restaurants/c...
	Question 12: What additional community, leisure or other facilities would you like to see in the town centre?
	2.19 By some margin, the top response provided when asked this question was improvements to the existing leisure facilities (14.81%) alongside a new leisure facility (8.05%). This shows that there is wide community support for improvements to the leis...
	Question 13: Which of the following possible project are most important to you?
	2.20 When respondents were asked to indicate the importance of a number of possible projects, 62.60% of respondents stated that improving the appearance of the town centre was a very important project. The other two top-three ‘very important’ projects...
	Question 14: Do you have any ideas as to where any of the possible projects above should be located?
	2.21 There is wide support for these projects being located centrally in Clay Cross, with 22.27% of respondents saying that these should be located in the town centre, 8.18% stated Market Street and 4.09% stated High Street. Reflective of the support ...
	Question 15: Do you feel that your employment prospects would benefit from additional skills-based training?
	2.22 56.07% of respondents stated that their employment prospects would not benefit from any additional skills-based training, however 43.93% of respondents felt that their employment prospects would.
	2.23 Further analysis of this question has been undertaken in order to gain an understanding of the age profile of those responding ‘Yes’. On review, respondents aged under 16 (66.67%), 16-24 (55.56%) and over 80 (100%) were those who responded that t...
	Question 16: Do you feel that there is sufficient opportunity to gain additional training in Clay Cross?
	2.24 52.45% of respondents felt that there are not sufficient opportunities to gain additional training in Clay Cross. When asked to clarify their responses, respondents mainly stated that they were either not sure or aware of any opportunities or tha...
	Question 17: Are you interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross?
	2.25 11.63% of respondents stated that they are interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross.
	Question 18: Do you run your own business in Clay Cross?
	2.26 10.59% of respondents stated that they currently run their own business in Clay Cross.
	Question 19: If you run a business, what changes can be made to support and help develop your business?
	2.27 13.46% of respondents stated that both improvements to the streetscape/cleanliness of Clay Cross and more support for local business were the top changes that could be made. Additionally, help with business rates (9.62%) and improvements to acces...
	Question 20: Are you interested in renting business premises in Clay Cross?
	2.28 9.19% of respondents stated that they are currently interested in renting business premises in Clay Cross.
	Question 21: Finally, do you have any comments?
	2.29 Within the any other comments box we received a number of comments and the key topics included:
	a. The prevalence of anti-social behaviour
	b. The need to improve the town centre
	c. Providing activities for children/young people
	d. Reducing vehicular movement through the town
	2.30 Improvements to local services and facilities, and a greater diversity of shops in the town were also supported, as were improvements to recreation and leisure facilities in the town. However, it should also be noted that a number of comments sta...
	2.31 Other comments stated that the town needs a community space and additional food and drink venues to increase the evening economy.

	3.0 Phase Two Consultation July to August 2020
	Introduction
	3.1 A questionnaire was distributed to residents, businesses and employers within Clay Cross. This was primarily distributed through online channels (Survey Monkey), however paper copies of the survey were located in the following destinations through...
	a. Clay Cross DIY at 17 Market Street
	b. The Body Health Centre 4 The Mall Market St
	c. Smiths Creamland Ices 113 High Street
	d. Post Office and Convenience store 42 High Street
	e. Taylors Corn Stores 4 Market Street
	f. Newsagents 41-43 Market Street
	3.2 Building on the first phase of consultation that took place in late June/early July 2020, the consultation ran from 31st July to 24th August. The process was publicised via online sources, the Council’s website and social media accounts, local new...
	3.3 In total, 232 surveys were completed.
	Summary
	3.4 The majority of respondents (81.89%) were aged between 25 and 64 and the majority (68.28%) provided their postcode as being within S45, which covers Clay Cross and Ashover to the west and Pilsley to the east, and 63.32% of respondents live in Clay...
	3.5 In respect of the draft Vision for Clay Cross, 91.38% of respondents reported that they broadly agreed with the draft Vision. When asked whether the draft Vision could be improved, the most common response included adding references to quality of ...
	3.6 When respondents were asked to indicate the importance of a number of possible projects, 65.95% of respondents stated that a replacement leisure centre and improvements to Sharley Park was a very important project. The other two top-three ‘very im...
	3.7 In terms of other projects that respondents thought should be included in the Plan, common responses included the need to further consider vehicular movement through Clay Cross, more projects focusing on additional tree planting and green spaces, ...
	3.8 Finally, when asked whether they supported the emerging strategy to transform Clay Cross, 95.69% of respondents answered ‘yes’.
	Survey Results
	3.9 Question 1 of the survey asked respondents whether they agreed to the Council’s GDPR rules and if they were happy for their answers to be used within the report. We have not published these answers here. The responses below are from those who agre...
	Question 2: Which age category are you within?
	3.10 A total of 43.10% of respondents were aged between 45 and 64 and 38.79% were aged between 25 and 44. 3.45% of respondents were aged under 24, with 0.43% being aged under 16. Respondents aged over 65 totalled 14.22% of respondents, although no res...
	Question 3: Please provide your post code
	3.11 The three most common post code responses were S45 - Clay Cross, Ashover, Pilsley - (155 responses, 68.28% of the total), S42 - Holymoorside, Grassmoor, North Wingfield, Tupton, Wingerworth, Mastin Moor - (50 responses, 22.03% of the total) and D...
	3.12 2 responses were provided for S41 and S40 respectively, equating to 0.88% of respondents.
	Question 4: Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?
	3.13 The majority of respondents lived in Clay Cross (63.32% of total respondents). However, in respect of working or attending school in Clay Cross a majority of respondents did not, with just 3.64% of respondents attending school and 29.07% working ...
	Question 5: Do you run your own business in Clay Cross?
	3.14 12.07% of respondents (25 responses) stated that they currently run their own business in Clay Cross.
	Question 6: Do you broadly agree with the draft Vision for Clay Cross?
	3.15 When presented with a copy of the draft Vision, a total of 91.38% of respondents answered that they broadly agreed with the Vision.
	Question 7: Could the draft Vision be improved? If so, how?
	3.16 Respondents provided a range of answers to this question, however the most common responses focused on the need to include references to quality of life and health and well-being in the Vision. Oher suggested improvements included mentioning impr...
	3.17 Overall, recurring themes as to how the Vision could be improved focused around health and well-being, traffic and pedestrian management, cycle links and public transport and the need to accommodate activities for older children/teenagers and to ...
	Question 8: How important are the following proposed projects to you?
	3.18 When respondents were asked to indicate the importance of a number of possible projects, 65.95% of respondents stated that a replacement leisure centre and improvements to Sharley Park was a very important project. The other two top-three ‘very i...
	3.19 The three projects which had the largest response of ‘not important’ were new homes on sites in the urban area (34.06%), a potential road link between Market Street and the Tesco car park (20.09%) and new low-carbon workspace at Coney Green (12.6...
	Question 9: Are there any other projects that should be included in the Plan?
	3.20 As a response to this question a number of projects were mentioned, however the most commonly mentioned included:
	a. The need to ensure greater access to doctor’s surgeries in the Town
	b. The need to further consider vehicular movement through Clay Cross
	c. More projects focusing on additional tree planting and green spaces
	d. The need to improve existing and provide new leisure facilities
	e. Providing better cycle links throughout the Town
	f. Improving the Town’s accessibility, possibly through delivery of the train station
	g. Improvements to existing services and facilities, including provision of a bank
	Question 10: Is there anything else that we should consider in developing the Plan?
	3.21 101 respondents provided an answer to this question, with a significant number stating that there was nothing further that should be considered in developing the Plan. Of those who did provide a response, it is suggested that further consideratio...
	Question 11: Do you support the emerging strategy to transform Clay Cross?
	3.22 Finally, respondents were asked to indicate whether they supported the emerging strategy for Clay Cross. 95.69% of respondents answered that they supported the emerging strategy.

	4.0 BDA Consultation
	Introduction

	5.0 My Towns – Clay Cross
	6.0 Summary
	Eastgate
	2 Castle Street
	Castlefield
	Manchester
	M3 4LZ
	T: 0161 819 6570

	Clay Cross Questionnaire.pdf
	Clay Cross Towns Fund   Public Consultation – Stage 1: Issues and Opportunities  Survey Form – We want your views!
	Question Title
	* 1. If you are happy to proceed with the survey on this basis, please select the Yes Box below:


	Clay Cross Towns Fund   Public Consultation – Stage 1: Issues and Opportunities  Survey Form – We want your views!
	Question Title
	* 2. About you?  Which age category are you within? (select one only)

	Question Title
	3. Please could you provide your postcode.

	Question Title
	4. Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	5. How do you usually travel?

	Question Title
	6. What do you like most about Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	7. What is your top priority to improve Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	* 8. About Clay Cross town centre  How often do you visit the town centre? (select one only)

	Question Title
	9. Why do you visit the town centre? (tick all that apply)

	Question Title
	10. Are there any other reasons why you visit the town centre?

	Question Title
	11. About Clay Cross  Which of these would encourage you to visit the town centre more frequently? (tick all that apply)

	Question Title
	12. What additional community, leisure or other facilities would you like to see in the town centre?

	Question Title
	13. Which of the following possible projects are most important to you?

	Question Title
	14. Do you have any ideas as to where any of the possible projects above should be located?

	Question Title
	* 15. About Business and Skills  Do you feel that your employment prospects would benefit from additional skills-based training?

	Question Title
	* 16. Do you feel that there is sufficient opportunity to gain additional training in Clay Cross? If no, please explain your answer.

	Question Title
	* 17. Are you interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	* 18. Do you run your own business in Clay Cross? If no, proceed to Question 20

	Question Title
	19. If you run a business, what changes can be made to support and help develop your business?

	Question Title
	20. Are you interested in renting business premises in Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	21. Comments  Finally, do you have any other comments about Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	22. We would like to keep you updated about the consultation process. This will be done through email and will consist of a few communications over the next few months as the plans for Clay Cross are developed. Your details will be kept securely by Nexus Planning and deleted within 2 months following the closure of the consultation. If you would like to receive information, please tick here and provide your email below

	Question Title
	23. Email address


	Clay Cross Towns Fund   Public Consultation – Stage 1: Issues and Opportunities  Survey Form – We want your views!

	Phase 2 Questionnaire.pdf
	Clay Cross Towns Fund   Public Consultation – Stage 2: Draft Clay Cross Town Investment Plan  Survey Form – We want your views!  Please complete and submit the survey form by Friday 21st August 2020
	Question Title
	* 1. If you are happy to proceed with the survey on this basis, please select the Yes Box below:


	Clay Cross Towns Fund   Public Consultation – Stage 2: Draft Clay Cross Town Investment Plan  Survey Form – We want your views!  Please complete and submit the survey form by Friday 21st August 2020
	Question Title
	* 2. About you?  Which age category are you within? (select one only)

	Question Title
	3. Please could you provide your postcode.

	Question Title
	* 4. Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	* 5. Do you run your own business in Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	* 6. A VISION FOR CLAY CROSS   Our draft Vision for a transformed Clay Cross is one of a thriving, industrious and sustainable market town, built on a strong and vibrant community spirit and a unique heritage; forged around a renewed heart that responds to the aspirations of a growing population and with a future founded on enterprise, skills and learning, innovation and low carbon technology.  Do you broadly agree with the draft Vision for Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	7. Could the draft Vision be improved? If so, how?

	Question Title
	* 8. The draft masterplan has been prepared to include a number of potential development projects. Please consider the consultation material before answering this question.  How important are the following proposed projects to you?

	Question Title
	9. Are there any other projects that should be included in the Plan?

	Question Title
	10. Is there anything else that we should consider in developing the Plan?

	Question Title
	* 11. Lots of work is required to develop the detail of the plans. However, overall, do you support the emerging strategy to transform Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	12. We would like to keep you updated about the consultation process. This will be done through email and will consist of a few communications over the next few months as the plans for Clay Cross are developed. Your details will be kept securely by Nexus Planning and deleted within 2 months following the closure of the consultation. If you would like to receive information, please tick here and provide your email below

	Question Title
	13. Email address


	Clay Cross Towns Fund   Public Consultation – Stage 2: Draft Clay Cross Town Investment Plan  Survey Form – We want your views!  Please complete and submit the survey form by Friday 21st August 2020

	Final questionnaire.pdf
	Clay Cross Towns Fund  Public Consultation – We Want Your Views!
	Question Title
	* 1. If you are happy to proceed with the survey on this basis, please select the Yes Box below:


	Clay Cross Towns Fund  Public Consultation – We Want Your Views!
	Question Title
	2. Which age category are you within? (select one only)

	Question Title
	3. Please could you provide your postcode.

	Question Title
	4. Do you live, work or attend school in Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	5. How do you usually travel? (by bicycle, private motor vehicle, bus, train, taxi, on foot, other, n/a)

	Question Title
	6. What do you like most about Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	7. What is your top priority to improve Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	8. How often do you visit the town centre?

	Question Title
	9. Why do you visit the town centre? (Answer ‘yes’ to all that apply)

	Question Title
	10. Are there any other reasons why you visit the town centre?

	Question Title
	11. Do you feel that your employment prospects would benefit from additional skills-based training?

	Question Title
	12. Are you interested in setting up a business in Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	13. Do you run you own business in Clay Cross? If no, proceed to Question 16.

	Question Title
	14. If you run a business, what changes can be made to support and help develop your business?

	Question Title
	15. Are you interested in renting business premises in Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	16. A Vision for Clay Cross.€Our draft Vision for a transformed Clay Cross is one of a thriving, industrious and sustainable market town, built on a strong and vibrant community spirit and a unique heritage; forged around a renewed heart that responds to the aspirations of a growing population and with a future founded on enterprise, skills and learning, innovation and low carbon technology.  Do you broadly agree with the draft Vision for Clay Cross?

	Question Title
	17. Could the draft vision be improved? If so, how?

	Question Title
	18. The draft masterplan has been prepared to include a number of potential development projects. Please consider the consultation material before answering this question.  How important are the following proposed projects to you?

	Question Title
	19. Are there any other projects that should be included in the Plan?

	Question Title
	20. Is there anything else that we should consider in developing the Plan?

	Question Title
	21. Lots of work is required to develop the detail of the plans. However, overall, do you support the emerging strategy to transform Clay Cross?


	Clay Cross Towns Fund  Public Consultation – We Want Your Views!


	5 Draft TIP
	7 Brief Overview of Current Status/Next Steps



